Wolf EMR[®] SMART Forms User Guide

Wolf EMR 2015.1 Issue 01.01



Revised September 17, 2015, version 2015.1.2

Wolf EMR[®] software and related products and services are owned by TELUS. Wolf EMR[®] and TELUS Health[™] are trademarks of TELUS.

The patients, physicians and circumstances depicted within this manual are fictitious. Any resemblance of any sample data or screenshots to any actual person, whether living or dead, is purely coincidental and unintentional.

Table of Contents

Introduction to SMART forms	5
Using SMART forms	7
Opening SMART forms	. 7
Completing SMART forms for patients1	10
Viewing, printing, and faxing saved SMART forms1	12
SMART Form Favourites1	13
Designating your favourite SMART forms1	13
Using favourite SMART forms1	14
Removing SMART forms from your favourites list1	15
Removing SMART forms1	16
Importing SMART forms1	17
Creating SMART forms 2	20
Starting SMART Forms	20
Starting new SMART forms2	20
Converting a Microsoft Word document into a SMART form 2	21
Configuring Microsoft Word for SMART forms development 2	22
Activating the Microsoft Word Developer tab2	22
Deactivating the Microsoft Word Developer tab2	23
Setting up Microsoft Word to show bookmarks2	24
Tips for navigating Microsoft Word2	26
Creating SMART forms for letters2	27
Adding a letterhead2	28
Adding addressee information and letter greetings2	29
Creating a letter body	33
Creating letter closings	34
Setting a SMART form to be a default referral letter template	35
Setting a SMART form to be your clinic's default referral letter template	35
Setting a SMART form to be a default referral letter template for a specific consultar	nt 36
Creating SMART forms for requisition forms and other entry forms	38
Using tables to format SMART forms	38
Inserting tables	39

Merging table cells	42
Splitting table cells	42
Modifying and hiding table borders	43
Adding static elements to restricted SMART forms	45
Adding static text	45
Adding underlines	46
Adding pictures	48
Adding electronic signatures	48
Adding user interface elements to restricted forms	49
Adding text fields	50
Restricting what data users can enter in specific text fields	53
Adding check boxes	55
Adding drop-down lists	57
Programming SMART forms to populate data automatically	59
Inserting bookmarks	60
Using bookmarks to pull data from exams	64
Using the same bookmark multiple times on a SMART form	65
Deleting bookmarks	66
Adding form entry date	67
Adding and removing SMART form editing restrictions	68
Restricting SMART forms to be fill-in only	69
Removing SMART form editing restrictions	70
Order sets	. 72
	70
Creating order sets	12
	76
Modifying SMAR1 forms	. 79
Troubleshooting SMART forms	. 80
Why, since our Wolf EMR has been upgraded, do some SMART forms not work properly?	80
Why is my bookmark is not pulling in any data?	80
When I use a SMART form, why can't I select the check boxes?	80
When I create SMART forms, why can't I see where bookmarks are inserted?	80
When I go to save a modified SMART form, why am I forced to save the SMART	-
form with a new name?	81

Introduction to SMART forms

SMART forms are Microsoft Word-based form and letter templates. You can use SMART forms to create electronic versions of standard forms (such as lab requisitions and government forms), which you can open and fill out in Wolf EMR. You can also use SMART forms as letter templates for consult letters and referral letters. Using SMART forms, you can:

- Pre-populate select patient demographic and other medical information from the EMR into an electronic version of a form or letter.
- Input data into designated text fields and check boxes.
- Populate the PLAN area of your SOAP visit notes with a list of investigations that were ordered using SMART forms.

	2-0	Ŧ	And reaDTe:	st_CPX - Fem	ale_2015081	0_0223 - M	icrosoft Word		Table Tools		⊡ ∑3
File	Home	Insert Pa	ge Layout	Reference	s Mailing	gs Revie	w View	Developer	Design	Layout	۵ 🕜
Print Layout	ull Screen Reading Document	I Web Layout I Outline I Draft ∶Views	Rule	r lines gation Pane ihow	Zoom Zo	L00%	Arrange	All Difference of the second s	Switch Windows •	Macros Macros	
											ā
⊕	APPOINTMENTS - WEBSITE BOOKING: www.calgarylabservices.com OR CALL 403-770-5136. GENERAL INQUIRIES 403-770-3600 Community General Requisition Services Dad Number Services Dad Number Services Dad Number Services Dad Number Services Servic										
Shad	led areas are	required informatio	n –	Verilled By	B	99985383	48		NU	MBER	=
Orderi	ng physician -	(apply CLS Dr. Office S	tamp Here):	PA	TIENT LAST NAME		FULL FIRST	NAME	MIDDLE NA	ME	
Last N	Vame / Full F	irst_Name: Johnn ;	y A. Velcro,	MD T	lest		ANDRE	A	Demet	rius	
5 Digit	t Client #			PA PA	TIENT ADDRESS		CITY, PROMI	NCE		POSTAL	CODE
Alpha Suffer Provider #					001 F D 1	10.1		AD		1.00	0110
Alpha	Suffix Provi	der #		41	001 E Brigh	ton 10th	BURLING	TON, AB		L3Q	0M9
Alpha	Suffix Provid	der #		41 S	001 E Brigh treet	ton 10th	BURLING	TON, AB		L3Q	OM9
Alpha IF REQU PHONE	Suffix Provid	der #		41 S' CH	DOIEBrigh treet ART NUMBER	ton 10th GENDER F	BURLING DATE OF	TON, AB	PATIENT PHON	L3Q RE NUMBER 28	OM9
Alpha IF REQU PHONE FAX		der #		41 S CH	DOIEBrigh treet ART NUMBER	ton 10th Gender F	BURLING DATE OF UNKN	BIRTH	PATIENT PHON 5265167	L3Q IE NUMBER 28	OM9
Alpha IF REQU PHONE FAX RESULT COPY 1	Suffix Provid	der # Name) Number)		41 S CH	DOI E Brigh treet ART NUMBER	ton 10th Gender F	BURLING DATE OF UNKN SEE PAGE 2 FOR A	BIRTH OWN	PATIENT PHON 5265167	L3Q RE NUMBER 28	0M9
Alpha IF REQU PHONE FAX RESULT COPY 1 1)	Suffix Provid	ker #	_	41 S CH	DOIE Brigh treet ART NUMBER T OF COMMUNITY	ton 10th Gender F	BURLING DATE OF UNKN SEE PAGE 2 FOR A	BIRTH OWN WAILABILITY)	PATIENT PHON 52651672	L3Q RE NUMBER 28	0M9
Alpha IF REQU PHONE FAX RESULT COPY 1 1)	Suffix Provid UIRED ISTO TO: Last Name	der # Name) Number) Full First Name		41 S CH LIS CH	DOIE Brigh <u>treet</u> ART NUMBER T OF COMMUNITY	ton 10th Gender F	BURLING DATE OF UNKN SEE PAGE 2 FOR A	EBRTH OWN VAILABILITY)	PATIENT PHON 52651672	L3Q RE NUMBER 28	0M9
Alpha IF REQU PHONE FAX RESULT COPY 1 1) 2)	Suffix Provio	Her # Name) Full First Name Full First Name		41 S CH CH Cation Cation	DOIE Brigh treet Art NUMBER	GENDER F 'STATTESTS (BURLING DATE OF UMKN SEE PAGE 2 FOR A	EIRTH OWN VAILABILITY)	PATIENT PHON 5265167	L3Q IE NUMBER 28	0M9
Alpha F REQU FAX RESULT COPY 1 1) 2) M	Suffix Provid JIRED IS TO () TO: Last Name Last Name	Her # Name) Yumber) Full First Name Full First Name nly Ordered Tests	Lo	LIS CH cation cation CHEMISTI	DOIE Brigh treet ART NUMBER ART NUMBER	TON 10th GENDER F (STATTESTS)	BURLING DATE OF UNKN SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A	STON, AB	PATIENT PHON 5265167: THERAPEUT	L3Q Ne number 28 10 drug m	OM9
Alpha IF REQU PHONE FAX RESULT 0 DF 1 1) 2) CBC PT U U HBA1(C	Suffix Provi URED IFS TO () TO: Last Name Last Name SUP SUP SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP Common SUP SUP Common SUP SUP SUP SUP SUP SUP SUP SUP	der # Name) Full First Name Full First Name Full First Name (Prothrombin Time) Jipsis (includes priicro Jipsis protocol) Jipsis Pardon	ALP BILTD CA CA	ation CHEMISTI Cation CHEMISTI Albumin Albumin Albumin Bilirubin-T Colocium Chevride	DOI E Brigh treet ART NUMBER T OF COMMUNITY T OF COMMUNITY RY hosphatase otal Only otal & Direct	STATTESTS	BURLING DATE OF unkn SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A Anti-Nuclear An Complement C Complement C Complement C Complement C Complement C Complement C	EIGTON, AB EIGTH own WAILABILITY) LOGY dibodies 13 13 14 2 Screen	THERAPEUT Last Dose : Time Route: Oral Dose Regimen Dose Duration	L3Q HE NUMBER 28 1C DRUG M Post I Post I M Oth	OM9
Alpha F REQL PHONE FAX RESULT COPY 1 1) 2) PT U U HBA1C GLU CREA ED	Suffix Provis	Her # Name) Full First Name Full First Name Full First Name Full First Name (Includes Diff. Prothorombin Time) alysis (includes micro)(c.as per protocol) oglobin A1c sose-Random dthinie (Serum/plasme)	ALB ALP BILT BILTD CA CL CL CHOL	cation CHEMISTI Cation CHEMISTI Alburnin Alburnin Bilirubin-T Bilirubin-T Calcium Chloride Cholester Cholester	DOI E Brigh treet ART NUMBER TOF COMMUNITY RY hosphatase otal Only otal & Direct otal - Total	ANA [CELIAC [MONOT [RF	BURLING DATE OF UNKIN SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A Complement C Complement C Complement C Complement C Celiac Disease IgG, IgA, IgM Monotest Reventorist Fa Parkello barga	EIGT N, AB	PATIENT PHON 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 10000 Content Pre Pre Pre Pre Conte: Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Content Conten	L3Q HE NUMBER 28 10 DRUG M by C Post 1 M 0 Off closporin reado	OM9
Alpha IF REQL PHONE FAX RESULT COPYT 1) 2) PT U U HBA1C GLU CREA EP LOL	Suffix Provis	Her # Name) Full First Name (Includes Diff. (Prothrombin Time) alysis (includes micro finite (serum/plaser) forlytes (Na, K, CII) Forlie (ise page 2)	ALB ALP BILTD CA CL OCA CL CA CL CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA	LIS cation cation CHEMISTI Alkalmine Bilinubin-T Calcium Chloride Cholestent Concorte	DOI E Brigh treet ART NUMBER T OF COMMUNITY T OF COMMUNITY T OF COMMUNITY T OF COMMUNITY T OF COMMUNITY APP APP APP APP APP APP APP AP	TATTESTS (ANA [C3 [C4 [MMGLOB [RF [RUBG [BURLING DATE OF UNKIN SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A Complement C Complement C Complement C Complement C Celiac Disease IgG, IgA, IgM Mondest Rheumatoid Fa Rheumatoid Fa Rheumatoid Fa	EIGET H OWN VAILABILITY) COGY dibodies :3 :4 : Screen ctor e Status IgG	PATIENT PHON 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	L3Q RE NUMBER 28 IC DRUG M 10 DRUG M 10 DRUG M 10 Other 10	OM9
Alpha IF REQU PHONE FAX RESULT COPY 1 1) 2) 2) CBC PT U U U U U U CREA EP LOL ALT	Suffix Provis	der # Aame) Aumber) Full First Name Full First Name Full First Name (Prothrombit first) Full Sirst Name (Prothrombit first) Full Sirst Name (Server Andom Stimine (serum/slasme rolytes (Na, K, Cl) Profile (see page 2)	ALB ALP - BILT BILTD CA CL OCL CO2 CRP CK	ation Cation Cation Cation CHEMIST Albumin Albumin Albumin Chloride Cholesten CQQ Conte CReative C-Reative C-Reativ	DOI E Brigh treet ART NUMBER TOF COMMUNITY TOF COMMUNITY TOF COMMUNITY RY hosphatase otal Only otal & Direct ol - Total e Protein inase	TAT TESTS (ANA [C3 C4 C C4 C C4 C C4 C MMGLOB [MONOT [RF [RUBG [BURLING DATE OF UNICH SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A OTEINS/SEROI Complement C Complement C Celiac Disease IgG, IgA, IgM Monotest Rheumatoid Fa Rubella Immuni (Non-pregnant)	EIGTON, AB EIGTH own WAILABILITY) COGY dibodies :3 :4 : Screen ctor e Status IgG	THERAPEUT S265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 5	L3Q HE NUMBER 28 IC DRUG M 10 DRUG M 10 DRUG M 10 Other 10	OM9
Alpha IF REQU PHONE FAX RESULT COFV 1 1) 2) 2) PT U U U U U U U U CBC PT U U U CBC PT U U CBC PT U U CBC PT U CBC CBC PT U CBC CBC PT U CBC CBC PT U CBC CBC PT U CBC CBC PT U CBC CBC PT U CBC CBC PT U CBC CBC PT U CBC CBC CBC CBC CBC CBC CBC	Suffix Provis	der # Aame) Aumber) Full First Name Full First	ALB ALP BILT BILTD CA CL OCHOL CO2 CRP CK GGT	ation CHEMISTI Cation CHEMISTI Albumin Albumin Albumin Chloride Cholesten QQ:Conte C-Reactiv Creatine k G-Reactiv Creatine k G-G-Reactiv G-G-Reactiv Creatine k G-G-Reactiv G-G-Reactiv G-G-Reactiv G-G-Reactiv G-G-Reactiv G-G-Reactiv G-G-Reactiv G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-G-	DOI E Brigh treet ART NUMBER TOF COMMUNITY TOF COMMUNITY TOF COMMUNITY RY hosphatase otal Only otal & Direct otal & Direct ol - Total ert e Protein Linase	TATTESTS	BURLING DATE OF unknu SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A Complement O Complement	EIGTON, AB EIGTH own WAILABILITY) LOGY fibodies 13 14 2 Screen ctor e Status IgG	THERAPEUT 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517:	L3Q HE NUMBER 28 1C DRUG M 29 1C DRUG M 10 Other 10 Other	OM9
Alpha IF REQU PHONE FAX RESULT COFV 1 1) 2) 2) 2) CBC PT U CBC QL CBC QL CREA EP LDL ALT FERR	Suffix Provis	der # Aame) Aumber) Full First Name Full Ges traiter Full Articludes Diff. (Prothrombin Time) Full Articludes ruicro pic as per protocol) fic as per protocol fin Articludes full Articludes f	ALB ALP BILT BILTD CA CL CHOL CO2 CRP CK GGT GLUPI	LIS Cation CHEMISTI CHEMISTI CHEMISTI Alburnin Alburnin Alburnin Alburnin Alburnin Choister Choister Qoy Conte Choister Qoy Conte Qoy Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Conte Co	DOI E Brigh treet ART NUMBER TOF COMMUNITY TOF COMMUNITY TOF COMMUNITY RY hosphatase otal Only otal & Direct al Only otal & Direct Protein timage (see page 2)	ANA CALL CALL CALL CALL CALL CALL CALL C	BURLING DATE OF unknu SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A SEE PAGE 2 FOR A Anti-Nuclear An Complement C Complement C Complement C Celiac Disease IgG, IgA, IgM Monotest Rheumatoid Fa Rheumatoid Fa Rubella Immunu (Non-pregnant) ENDOCRINE	EIGETH OWN WAILABILITY) LOGY fibodies :3 :4 : Screen ctor e Status IgG Pregnant)	THERAPEUT S265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 5265167: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517: 526517:	L3Q HE NUMBER 28 10 DRUG M 29 10 Dr L 10 D	OM9

Wolf EMR contains SMART forms for the most common provincial and regional requisition forms. SMART forms are stored in the Wolf EMR data center, and are available to all Wolf EMR clients. If the Wolf development team creates a SMART form for other clinics in your region, the form is automatically available to you from your SMART forms list.

Using Microsoft Word, you can modify SMART forms provided by TELUS Health. SMART forms you modify are available only to your clinic, and cannot be deleted or updated by TELUS Health.

If you have other form needs, you can build the forms yourself in Microsoft Word. It is highly recommended that you take the SMART forms course before you build your own SMART forms. For more information on the SMART forms course, see the <u>Catalog of Wolf EMR Courses</u>. A SMART forms course is also hosted during every TELUS Health User Conference.

You can hire TELUS Health technical staff to build forms for you. For more information, contact the Wolf EMR support team.

Using SMART forms

You can open, fill out, and print a SMART form from almost any window related to a patient (any window containing the SMART patient banner).

Complete the form by selecting check-boxes, entering data in text fields, and selecting items in drop-down lists.

Once you print or save a SMART form for a patient, the form is saved in the **Documents** tab of the patient's medical summary, and becomes a permanent part of the patient's chart.

Opening SMART forms

To open a SMART Form:

- On any window related to the patient (including a patient's Medical Summary, SOAP form, Consult Letter Examination form, or Patient tab), right-click. The EMR displays the SMART Menu.
- 2. On the SMART Menu, click one of the following options:
 - **SMART Forms**: To view all available SMART Forms in your system.
 - **New Requisition**: To view only SMART forms categorized as requisition forms.
 - Favourite Requisition: To view only SMART forms categorized as requisition forms and identified as favourites.
 - Favourite Order Set: To view only order set SMART forms identified as favourites. See "Order sets" on page 72.

You can also access SMART forms directly from your visit notes, and open SMART form letters from referrals, or consults:

Visit notes

- On the SOAP Note Examination Form: In the Assessment area, click Order Labs.
- On the Consult Letter Examination Form (Specialists): To the right of the main text area, click Order Labs.

Referrals

On the New Referral window, enter the referral information, and then

in the **Send to SMART Form** area, click . The referral letter template that displays depends on the default SMART form you have set. See "Setting a SMART form to be a default referral letter" on page 35.

Consults

On the Consult Letter Examination window, right-click and then, on the SMART Menu, click SMART Forms. Find and select your consult letter SMART form. The EMR opens the SMART form letter template with your visit notes populated.

The EMR displays the Send to SMART Form window, with a list of available SMART Forms displayed in the left column.

Õ

0		orm 📃 🗆 🗶
	Document Configure SMART Forms	۵
Senc Clo	Keyword Image: Constraint of the second se	ove from Documents Filter
Filter:	Include hidden 🗙	SMART Form Preview SMART Form Data
Nam	e Favourites Diagnostic Tools Forms Letters Consult Letter Letter to Institution from Encounter Cutter to Institution from Encounter Letter to Patient from Encounter Letter to Referring MD from Encounter Letter to Referring MD from Encounter Letter to Referring MD from Encounter School Absence Video Visit Patient Instructions Work Abscence Order Sets	No SMART Form selected
•	Requisitions	

- 3. In the list of SMART Forms, expand the category of forms you want to view, and then click the form. The EMR displays the selected form on the right side of the window.
- 4. If you cannot find the form you want:
 - a) In the **Filter** field, enter a search term (for example, "MRI"). The EMR filters the SMART form list to display only SMART forms containing your search term.

Tips for entering search criteria

- Most lab requisitions contain the word "Lab"
- Most diagnostic imaging requisitions contain either "DI" or "Imaging".
- SMART forms are named by region (for example, "AB Cg"), or company/type (for example, "CDC", or "MIC").

Enter these search criteria to quickly find the form you want.

- b) In the filtered list of SMART Forms, click the form you want. The EMR displays your selected form on the right side of the window.
 - If the SMART form is programmed to pull information from the patient's record, but the information is not available in the current patient's record, the EMR displays a dialog box similar to the following,

Send to SMART Form	x
Please supply missing SMART Fo	orm data:
Consultant	
(OK)	

and then displays the SMART Form Data tab, where you can enter the missing data.

SMART Form Prev	view SMART Form Data	
Patient	Kirk, James T.	- F
Provider	Gabert, Trayr (MD)	•
Appointment		-
Referral		-
Consultant		•
CC Provider 1		-
CC Provider 2		-
Insurer		
Institution		÷
🔲 Allow Incom	plete Data	

Enter the missing data in the fields provided, or, to produce the SMART form without the missing data, select the **Allow Incomplete Data** check box.

 If the SMART form contains an electronic signature, the EMR displays a dialog box with a prompt similar to the following.

Sign Document?							
Do you wish to add your signature to this form? Signature for Provider: Gabert, Trayr, MD Documment: Trayr's Letter Patient: Kirk, James T.							
This will save the document as a PDF file.							
Yes No							

To insert your signature, click Yes.

5. In the SMART forms list, double-click the form, or click **Send and Close** (¹). The EMR opens the form in Microsoft Word.

Completing SMART forms for patients

To complete a SMART form for a patient:

 Open the form. See "Opening SMART forms" on page 7. The EMR opens the SMART Form in Microsoft Word, with editable check boxes, text fields, and drop-down lists highlighted in grey.

W 🗶 🤊 -	Ű ∓ Fa	therTest_D	I Req-AHS-	AB_201410	24_1129 -	• Microsoft	Word	Table	Tools	-		23
File Hor	me Insert Pa	age Layout	Reference	es Mailin	gs Revie	w View	Develope	r Desi	gn	Layout	\$	0
Paste	BIU	abe X2	× •			* ≡ * *≡~	Ouick		Editing	3		
	A - ab - 1	A ∘ Aa∘	A A	<u></u> - <u></u>	- A	۹ĩ	Styles -	Styles 🔻	*			
Clipboard 🗔	F	ont	- Gi	Pa	aragraph	G	Style	s G				
-	Alberta He Services	ealth				Patient label not used, min Last Name Test	placed here (i imum informat	f applicable Ji tion below is First Nan Fasher	oriflabelsa required ne	are		
Diagno: Requi Patier zone, Urger	stic Imaging I lest will be returned it nts will be booked in , unless a specific sib nt / Emergent reques	ntervention fillegible or inco the first approp e is requested. ts must be disc	nal Proced omplete. viate/available ussed by direct	ures Requ slot in the consultation wi	lest th the radiolo	Binndate 20-Jun-1986 Gender M gist)	PHN #				
Referring	Physician Dama Ki	now-Four, MD	- 88886		Physician P (650) 824-3	hone 2762	PI (7	1ysician Fax 1 35) 844-74 8	:7			
Physician :	Signature				Copy to Phy	ysician	c	opy to Fax			1	
ExamReq	puested											L
Specify					Preferred S	ite						
Reason fo	or Exam			•								
Relevant	Clinical History											
Previous	Surgery				For biopsie specimen n	s and drainage equired:	s, please indic	ate specific la	abor			
Height		🗖 cm	🔲 in		Pediatric/S	pecial Needs		No 🛛 Y	es		1	
Weight Date of LM	AP	🗖 Kg	🗖 lbs		lsolation Pr Diabetic Asthma	ecautions		No ⊒Y No ⊒Y No ⊒Y	es es es			•
Metformin Anticoagul	(Glucophage) lants	□ No □ No	□ Yes Forcer □ Yes ► S	n bast media studi Specify	es nay à crequir	nito stop Matomi	in br 48 hours po.	¢)				0
Page: 1 of 1	Words: 1/378		nglish (Can	ada) 🚹]		12 I	75% 😑)	÷)

2. Select any check boxes you want, and enter text in fields highlighted in grey.



You cannot edit text or other items on the form that are not highlighted in grey. For example, you cannot edit a patient's address on the SMART Form. Instead, edit the address in the Patient Maintenance window.

- 3. Click **Save** (**b**), or on your keyboard, press <**Ctrl**><**S**>. The EMR saves the completed SMART Form in the **Documents** tab of the patient's Medical Summary.
- 4. To print or fax the form:
 - a) On the Microsoft Word menu, click **File** > **Print**. Microsoft Word displays the print properties window.
 - b) In the printer drop-down list, click the printer or fax machine you want.



Viewing, printing, and faxing saved SMART forms

After you complete and save a SMART Form, the EMR saves the SMART Form in the Documents tab of the patient's medical summary. You can reference or re-print the form as needed.

To view and print a previously completed SMART Form for a patient:

- 1. Open the patient's Medical Summary, and then click the **Documents** tab. The EMR displays all of the patient's documents and SMART Forms.
- 2. In the **Search** field, enter a word that you know is present in the SMART Form's name, (for example, "**lab**"). The EMR filters the list to display only documents and SMART Forms that contain the search term.

📧 Medical Summary									
Test, Father			Next Encou	inter: None	3orn 20-Jun-1980 (3	3 4) Sex	M PHN Status	Long Term Care Pa	
Home address 1234 Frist Street, Calgary AB T5R4E3W		Home (403) 9 Cell Work	999-8888	🕙 We	3 <i>MI</i> 21.2 2 d <i>ight</i> 65kg 2 d <i>BP</i> 120/80 2 d	Pri Fam Ref	Dana Know	-Four, MD	<u> </u>
No Inv.	📄 Unrev. Docs	🚯 3 Rules	🖂 8 Messages	👘 🥼 10 Fe	illow Ups 👘 📝	No Vaccinations			
🛒 Print Chart	📷 Custom R	eport <u> </u>	Request Chart	Æ	Change Log	🚺 NetCare			
Current Hx Past Hx	Personal Hx	Communication	Investigations	Documents	Referrals				
Hide SMART Forms	Document Type	<all></all>	💌 Sear	rch: lab	1A	ND 💌 Publish to I	Portal Viev	w Document Prop	erties
Date Status	Document Type	Keyword One	Keyword Two	Keyword Th	ee Content Typ	pe Notes		MD Review Date	
07-Mar-2014 Reviewed		Lab Req-AB Cg (2	5t					07-Mar-2014	
18-Apr-2013 Reviewed	I	Lab Req-AB Cg						TG 18-Apr-2013	

3. In the filtered list of documents, double-click the form you want. The EMR opens the SMART Form in Microsoft Word.



At this point, you can add to or edit information in the SMART form if you are re-printing it.

CAUTION: Any edits you make are not saved when the form is closed.

- 4. To print the SMART form:
 - a) On the Microsoft Windows menu, click **File** > **Print**. Microsoft Word displays the print properties window.
 - b) In the printer drop-down list, click the print or fax machine you want.



c) Click Print (Print).

SMART Form Favourites

Wolf EMR contains hundreds of SMART Forms you can choose from. With so many forms, it can be difficult to find the form you want. If you want to quickly find SMART forms you access often, you can designate certain SMART forms as favourites.

Favourite SMART Forms display at the top of your SMART Forms list. You can also open favourite SMART Forms using the **Favourite Requisition** and **Favourite Order Set** options on the SMART Menu.

Designating your favourite SMART forms

You can designate SMART forms as favourites either from the Maintenance tab, or from the Send to SMART form window.



Only users with administrative authority in Wolf EMR can add SMART forms to the favourites list of all clinic users.

If you are in a patient's record with the Send to SMART Form window open, to designate a SMART form as a favourite:

- 1. In the list of SMART forms, click the form you want.
- 2. Click Add to Favourites (70).

If you do not have a patient's record open, to designate a SMART form as a favourite:

- 1. On the Wolf EMR Launch Page, click the **Maintenance** tab.
- 2. On the Maintenance toolbar, click one of the following options:
 - **Configure My SMART Forms** (^{ECO}): To add SMART forms to your personal favourites list. The EMR displays the Configure My SMART Forms window.
 - Configure Clinic SMART Forms (^{ECO}): To add SMART forms to the favourites list of all users. The EMR displays the Configure Clinic SMART Forms window.

Configure My SMART Forms									
Configure SMART Forms					\diamond				
🛃 📩 🖠	6 1		-						
Use Clinic Add to Remov Defaults Favourites Favo	e from Filte rites Docum	er Mar ents Signa	age ature						
Configure 🖌 Favourites	_ Filter	⊿ Signati	ures 🝙						
Name	Enabled	Clinic Enabled	Favourite	Clinic Favourite	SMART Form Preview				
 Pavourices DI Req-CDC-AB Cg DI Req-EFW-AB Cg DI Req-Mayfair-AB Cg DI Req-Pureform-AB Cg DI Req-Pureform-AB Cg Ped US Req-EFW-AB Cg School Absence Diagnostic Tools Forms Letters Order Sets 					No SMART Form selected				

- 3. In the list of SMART forms, click the form you want.
- 4. If your list of forms is extensive and you can't find the form you want:
 - a) Click **Filter Documents** (). The EMR displays a **Filter** field above your SMART form list.
 - b) In the **Filter** field, enter a search term. (For example, "MRI".) The EMR filters the SMART form list to display only SMART forms containing your search term.
 - c) In the filtered SMART forms list, click the form you want.
- 5. Click Add to Favourites ().
- 6. When you finish defining favourite SMART forms, click **Close** (

Using favourite SMART forms

To use a favourite SMART form:

- On any window related to the patient (including a patient's Medical Summary, SOAP form, Consult Letter Examination form, or Patient tab), right-click. The EMR displays the SMART Menu.
- 2. On the SMART Menu, perform one of the following actions:
 - To open a favourite requisition form, hover your cursor over Favourite Requisition. The EMR displays a list of your Favourite SMART forms categorized as requisition forms.

Ne.		Refill Medications	34)	S	Sex M	PHN Status	Long Ter
	INR	View INR Summary View Medication List		Fi J	Pri am Ref	Dana Knov	w-Four, MD
des	Ŗ	Enter New Medication	No	Vaccinations			
		SMART Forms					
abe		QuickEntry	*				
		New Requisition					
		Favourite Requisition		DI Req-Pureforn	n-Ab C	ig	
		Favourite Order Set		DI Req-RCAssoc	:-Ab C	g	
		New Problem		Gyne Cyto Req-	AB Cg		
		New Referral		Micro Req-AB Co]		
IS		New Vaccination		MRI Req-AB Cg			
	P	New Message		Ultrasound Req-	Sunrid	lge-AB Cg	
n lie oda	1	New Follow-up		Virology Req-AB	Cgy		
		New Allergy					_

• To open a favourite order set, hover your cursor over **Favourite Order Sets**. The EMR displays a list of your Favourite SMART forms categorized as order sets.



An order sets is a customized copy of a SMART form with certain checkboxes and text fields pre-populated. For more information on order sets, see "Order sets" on page 72.

- To open a favourite SMART form that is not categorized as a requisition form or an order set, click SMART Forms. The EMR opens the Send to SMART Form window, with your favourite SMART forms displayed at the top of the SMART form list
- 3. Click the form you want. The EMR opens the form in Microsoft Word.
- 4. Complete and print the form. See "Completing SMART forms for patients" on page 10.

Removing SMART forms from your favourites list

If your clinic has clinic-wide SMART form favourites that you do not use, you can remove the SMART forms from your favourites list without affecting the favourites list of other users.

If your clinic has clinic-wide SMART form favourites that all users do not use anymore, if you have administrative authority, you can remove these SMART forms from the favourites list of all clinic members.



Only users with administrative authority in Wolf EMR can remove SMART forms from the favourites list of all clinic users.

To remove a SMART Form from your favourites list:

- 1. On the Wolf EMR Launch Page, click the Maintenance tab.
- 2. Click one of the following options:
 - Configure My SMART Forms (^{ECO}): To remove SMART forms from your personal favourites list. The EMR displays the Configure My SMART Forms window, with a list of available SMART Forms displayed in the left column.
 - Configure Clinic SMART Forms (^EC): To remove SMART forms from the favourites list of all users. The EMR displays the Configure Clinic SMART Forms window.
- 3. In the SMART Forms list, expand the Favourites category.
- 4. If your list of favourite forms is extensive and you can't find the form you want:
 - a) Click Filter Documents (\square). The EMR displays a Filter field.
 - b) In the **Filter** field, enter a search term. (For example, "**MRI**".) The EMR filters the SMART Form list to display only SMART Forms containing your search term.
- 5. On the SMART Forms list, click the form you want to delete.
- 6. Click **Remove from Favourites** (). The EMR removes the SMART Form from the favourites list.
- 7. When you are finished removing favourite SMART Forms, click **Close** (



If you remove a Clinic Favourite from your favourites list, the SMART Form still displays on the favourites list of other users in the clinic.

Removing SMART forms

If you want to remove a SMART form or a complete category of SMART forms from your list of SMART forms, you can disable the form(s). Once disabled, the form(s) no longer display on your list, however other clinic users can still access the form(s). Users with administrative authority can disable a form for all clinic users.

To remove a SMART form from your list:

- 1. Complete one of the following actions:
 - If you are in a patient's record with the Send to SMART Form window open, at the top of the window, click the Configure SMART Forms tab. The EMR displays the Configure My SMART Forms window.
 - If you do not have a patient's record open, on the Wolf EMR Launch page, click the Maintenance tab, and then click one of the following options:
 - **Configure My SMART Forms** (ECC): To remove SMART forms from your personal list. The EMR displays the Configure My SMART Forms window, with a list of available SMART Forms displayed in the left column.
 - Configure Clinic SMART Forms (^EC): To remove SMART forms from the list of all users. The EMR displays the Configure Clinic SMART Forms window.
- 2. Find the form or category of forms you want to disable. If you cannot find the form you want, filter the list. See step 4 in Designating your favourite SMART forms on page 13.
- 3. Beside the form, or category of forms you want to disable, clear the **Enabled** check box.

Importing SMART forms

If you receive a SMART form file from another clinic or a colleague, you can import the form into your clinic's system and use it in Wolf EMR.



You can share your custom SMART forms with other Wolf EMR users using the Community Portal Chatter feature.

To import a form, you copy the SMART form file from your local computer into the User Templates folder (**W:/Wolfdata/templates/**) on the remote computer hosting Wolf EMR (data center).

To import a SMART form:

1. Navigate to the User Templates folder on the data center:



- c) On the desktop of your remote computer, click **Start** (**Start**). The EMR displays the Windows Start Menu.
- d) Click Computer.
- e) In the Microsoft Explorer window, under Network Location, double-click W:.
- f) Double-click **Wolfdata** >**Templates**. The Templates folder contains a folder for each SMART form category (for example, Letters, Requisitions).
- g) Double-click the appropriate folder.

					• 🔁	3		
😋 🔾 🗢 📕 « Wolfdata 🔸 Templates 🕨 🔹 🗸 🗸 Search Templates								
Organize New folder								
🔆 Favorites	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size		-		
🧮 Desktop	퉬 CustomExamFormImport	09/12/2013 3:20 PM	File folder					
Downloads) CustomExamFormImported	09/12/2013 3:20 PM	File folder					
🔚 Recent Places	鷆 Diagnostic Tools	13/06/2013 3:40 PM	File folder					
E thurstone	鷆 Forms	01/10/2014 12:18 PM	File folder					
Documents	퉬 Letters	22/10/2014 5:00 PM	File folder					
Documents	鷆 Order Sets	27/10/2014 10:40 AM	File folder			-		
	퉬 Requisitions	15/04/2014 4:51 PM	File folder					
Videos	SOAPExports	19/04/2013 3:01 PM	File folder					
_) SOAPImported	03/12/2013 10:48 AM	File folder					
👰 Computer	퉬 SOAPImports	22/08/2014 2:40 PM	File folder					
•	🕮 AISH Tracking	14/06/2013 10:26 AM	Microsoft Word 97	10	9 KB			
🙀 Network	🕋 AISH Tracking_Metadata	14/08/2013 1:39 PM	XML Document		2 KB	_		
	👜 AISH Tracking_Prebuilt	14/06/2013 10:26 AM	Microsoft Word Doc	2	0 KB			
	•	III			•			
14 items								

 On your local computer, copy the Microsoft Word 97-2003 template file for the SMART form. Right-click the SMART form file, and then click **Copy** or, on your keyboard, press <**Ctrl**><**C**>.

Each form has several file types. Ensure that you copy the Microsoft Word
97-2003 Template (

- 3. In the category folder on your remote desktop, right-click, and then click **Paste**. The SMART form is now available to use in Wolf EMR.
- 4. Optionally, rename the SMART form file name.

Creating SMART forms

Starting SMART Forms

To start a new SMART Form, you open Microsoft Word and then save the document as a template in your clinic's template folder.

If you have already created a document in Microsoft Word, and want to "convert" it into a SMART form, you can save the Word Document in your clinic's template folder as a Microsoft Word 97-2003 Template. You can then program the form to pull patient data (see "Programming SMART forms to populate data automatically" on page 59), or add user interface items such as check boxes and text fields (see "Adding user interface elements to restricted forms" on page 49).

Starting new SMART forms

To start a new SMART form:

- 1. On your Remote Desktop (that hosts Wolf EMR), in the bottom toolbar, click Start (
- Click All Programs > Microsoft Office > Microsoft Word 2010. Microsoft Word opens, with a blank document displayed.
- 3. On the Microsoft Word menu, click **File** > **Save As** (^{IIII}). Microsoft Word displays the Save As window.
- 4. Search for and select the location of your clinic SMART forms:
 - a) In the left pane, click **Computer** (1999).
 - b) Under Network Location, double-click W:.
 - c) Double-click **Wolfdata** >**Templates**. The Templates folder contains a folder for each SMART form category (for example, Letters, Requisitions).
 - d) Double-click the appropriate folder.

If the category folder you want is not available, you can create the folder now:

- 1. In the Templates folder window, right-click.
- 2. Click **New** > **Folder**. Windows creates a folder called "New Folder".
- 3. Rename the folder to the category name. For example "Letters".

Note: Category folders are the expandable categories you can choose from when you select a SMART form for a patient.

Document Requisitions Filter: Include hidden Name Include hidden Image: Include hidden Image: Include hidden Image: Include hiden		Send Clos	and e	Keywor Keywor Keywor	rd rd		,	•	Open Document Link to Patient Mark as Reviewed	Add to Favourites
Name Name Diagnostic Tools Forms Letters Order Sets Requisitions Special Authority Forms Special Authority Forms Special Authority Porms Special Authority Porms		Jocume	nt 🔺		Ke	ywords		A		Favou
Name Favourites Diagnostic Tools Forms Letters Order Sets Requisitions Special Authority Forms Special Authority Forms Special Authority OP Ref-BC FHA (US11033) UPDATE	-	nicer;								nidden
 Diagnostic Tools Forms Letters Order Sets Requisitions Special Authority Forms Psychiatry OP Ref-BC FHA (US11033) UPDATE 		Name	Eauou	ritos						
Forms Letters Order Sets Requisitions Special Authority Forms Special Authority OP Ref-BC FHA (US11033) UPDATE	Ľ		Diagno	istic Tools	5					
Letters Order Sets Requisitions Special Authority Forms Special Authority OP Ref-BC FHA (US11033) UPDATE		•	Forms							
Image: Constant of the constant		+	Letters	;						
Image: Provide the second s		+	Order	Sets						
Special Authority Forms Special Authority Forms Special Authority Forms Special Authority Forms Psychiatry OP Ref-BC FHA (US11033) UPDATE		•	Requis	itions	_					
	L	1	Specia	Authorit	y Forms	A /UE1103				
	-		PSychi	BUY OP R	CEI-DC FH	IA (US1103	5) OPDATE			

- 5. In the **File name** field, enter a descriptive name for the SMART form.
- 6. In the Save as type drop-down list, click Word 97-2003 Template.
- 7. Click Save.

Converting a Microsoft Word document into a SMART form

If you have already created a document in Microsoft Word, you can convert the document into a SMART form that can be used in Wolf EMR.

To convert a Microsoft Word document into a SMART form:

- 1. Save the Microsoft Word document as a Word 97-2003 Template file:
 - a) Open the document in Microsoft Word.
 - b) At the top of the Microsoft Word window, click **File** > **Save As**.

- c) In the Save as type drop-down list, click Word 97-2003 Template.
- d) Click Save.
- 2. Import the Word 97-2003 Template file into the User Templates folder on the remote desktop hosting Wolf EMR. See "Importing SMART forms" on page 16.
- Modify the SMART form, and add items as needed. See "Creating SMART forms for letters" on page 27, or "Creating SMART forms for requisition forms and other entry forms" on page 38.

Configuring Microsoft Word for SMART forms development

Before you create a SMART form, activate the Microsoft Word **Developer** tab. The **Developer** tab enables you to:

- Add check boxes, text fields, and drop-down lists
- Add editing restrictions

Once activated, the **Developer** tab displays next to the **View** tab at the top of the Microsoft Word window.



You must also set Microsoft Word to show bookmarks. Bookmarks are characters that are replaced with patient data when used in a patient's chart. For more information on bookmarks, see "Programming SMART forms to populate data automatically" on page 59.

Activating the Microsoft Word Developer tab

To activate the Microsoft Word Developer tab:

- 1. Open Microsoft Word if you do not have it open already:
 - a) On the Remote Desktop that hosts Wolf EMR (data center), in the bottom toolbar, click



b) Click All Programs > Microsoft Office > Microsoft Word 2010. Microsoft Word opens, with a blank document displayed.

- 2. On the Microsoft Word menu, click **File** > **Options**. Word displays the Word Options window.
- 3. In the left pane, click **Customize Ribbon**.
- 4. In the Customize the Ribbon area, under Main Tabs, select the Developer check box.

Word Options		? ×
General	Customize the Ribbon and keyboard shortcuts.	
Proofing	<u>C</u> hoose commands from: ③ Popular Commands	Customize the Ri <u>b</u> bon: 🕠 Main Tabs
Save	Accept and Move to Next	Main Tabs □ ♥ Home
Advanced	Breaks	
Customize Ribbon Quick Access Toolbar		Styles Editing
Add-Ins	Cut Define New Number Format Delete	WebEx Vision Insert Vision Page Layout
Irust Center	Draw Table Draw Vertical Text Box E-mail	V References V Mailings V Review View
	A Font	V Developer V Add_ins V Acrobat
	Font Size Iv Format Painter A Grow Font	⊞
	Keyboard shortcuts: Cus <u>t</u> omize	Customizations: Reset • () Import/Export • ()
•		
		OK Cancel

5. Click **OK**.

Deactivating the Microsoft Word Developer tab

After you are finished creating your SMART form, you can deactivate the Microsoft Word Developer tab.

To deactivate the Microsoft Word Developer tab:

- 1. Open Microsoft Word:
 - a) On the Remote Desktop that hosts Wolf EMR (data center), in the bottom toolbar, click



b) Click All Programs > Microsoft Office > Microsoft Word 2010. Microsoft Word opens, with a blank document displayed.

- 2. On the Microsoft Word menu, click **File** > **Options**. Word displays the Word Options window.
- 3. In the left pane, click **Customize Ribbon**.
- 4. In the Customize the Ribbon area, under Main Tabs, clear the Developer check box.

General Display Proofing Save Language Advanced Customize the Ribbon Quick Access Toolbar Quick Access Toolbar Add-Ins Trust Center Delete Doraw Table Doraw Table Draw Table Provelical Text Box E-mail Find Font A Font. A Font Color Keyboard shortcuts: Customize the Ribbon	Word Options		? 🔀
A Font A Font A Font Color Keyboard shortcuts: Customize Import/Export T	Word Options General Display Proofing Save Language Advanced Customize Ribbon Quick Access Toolbar Add-Ins Trust Center	Customize the Ribbon and keyboard shortcuts. Choose commands from: () Popular Commands Popular Commands Accept and Move to Next Align Left Breaks Bullets Center Change List Level Copy Cut Define New Number Format Delete Draw Table Draw Vertical Text Box E-mail	Customize the Ribbon: () Main Tabs Main Tabs ■ ♥ Home ■ Clipboard ■ Font ■ Paragraph ■ Styles ■ Editing ■ ♥ Insert ■ ♥ Page Layout ♥ ♥ References ■ ♥ Mailings ■ ♥ Review ■ ♥ View
OK Cancel		E-mail Find Font A Font A Font Color Keyboard shortcuts: Customize	View Developer Developer New Tab New Group Renam Customizations: Reset ▼ 0 Import/Export ▼ 0 P

5. Click **OK**.

Setting up Microsoft Word to show bookmarks

If you add bookmarks to SMART forms, by default you cannot see where bookmarks are inserted. To see where bookmarks are inserted, you can configure Microsoft Word to show bookmarks. Microsoft Word then displays bookmarks as I characters. You should always set Microsoft Word to display bookmarks or you risk mistakenly deleting or overwriting them.

Font	A [*] ▲ * * 2↓ ¶ St S Paragraph S		
10 Aug 2015			
Dear]], Re:] DoB:] PHN:]] Appt:	Bookmark (Indicates that data will populate here automatically)		
Reason For Referral	ſ		
Current Investigation	ns: <u>T</u>		
I			

See "Inserting bookmarks" on page 60.

To configure Microsoft Word to show bookmarks:

- 1. On the Microsoft Word menu, click **File** > **Options**. Microsoft Word displays the Word Options window.
- 2. Click Advanced.
- 3. In the **Show document content** area, select the **Show bookmarks** check box.

Word Options	
Canaral	🔲 Discard editing data 🕡
General	Do not compress images in file i
Display	Set default target out <u>p</u> ut to: 220 ppi 💌
Proofing	
	Show document content
Save	Show background colors and images in Print Layout view
Language	Show text wrapped within the document window
Advanced	Show picture placeholders ii
	Show drawings and text boxes on screen
Customize Ribbon	Show text animation
Quick Access Toolbar	Show bookmarks
	Show text boundaries
Add-Ins	Show crop marks
Trust Center	Show field codes instead of their values
	Field shading: When selected 💌
	Use draft font in Draft and Outline views

4. Click OK.

Tips for navigating Microsoft Word

Microsoft Word contains a multitude of options for adding content and performing actions on documents. To find the content item or action you want, use the Microsoft Word menu tabs. Click each tab to view the associated Quick Action Toolbar below.



If you insert an item on a document that has configurable properties, a new tab may appear. Any tools you use or actions you perform from the new tab are specific to the item you inserted.



Tools and options in the Quick Action Toolbar are arranged in groups. To view more detailed options for a group, click the expand icon on the bottom right corner of the group.



For more information on how to use specific tools, access **Word Help**. On the top right of the Microsoft Word window, click 2.

Creating SMART forms for letters

The process for creating letter SMART forms is simpler than creating SMART forms for requisition forms and other entry forms (where users have to enter data in designated areas). You can usually leave letter SMART forms unrestricted, enabling users to add to or modify text in all areas of the letter. Letter SMART forms also require less complicated formatting. You simply write a letter, and indicate where patient, clinic, practitioner, and addressee data is to populate automatically.

Letters typically contain four main sections:

- Letterhead
- Addressee information and greeting
- Letter body
- Closing

The following sections cover processes and tips for creating each section of your letter.

Learning more on Microsoft Word tools:

For additional information on how to use tools in Microsoft Word to format your letter, you can ask a question and get help using **Word Help**. To access Microsoft Word Help, on the top right of the Microsoft Word

window, click the **Microsoft Word Help** (³) icon.

		۵ 🤇
Bring Forward 🔻	📮 Align 🔻	
🖣 Send Backward 🔻	다 Group -	
🗛 Selection Pane	🐴 Rotate 🔻	
Arrange		
		×
·17·1入18·1·19·1	1	
ttor		

Adding a letterhead

To add a letterhead:

- 1. Start a new SMART form. See "Starting SMART Forms" on page 20.
- 2. Perform one of the following actions:
 - If you want your letterhead to display on all pages of the printed letter:
 - a) At the top of the window, click **Insert** and then, in the **Header & Footer** area,

click **Header** (). Word displays a list of header options.

- b) Click Edit Header. Word displays an editable area at the top of the page.
- c) In the editable area, place your cursor where you want your letterhead to start.
- If you want your letterhead to display on only the first page of the printed letter, within the regular margins on the first page of the letter, place your cursor where you want your letterhead to start.
- 3. If you want to center your letterhead, at the top of the window, click the **Home** tab and then, in the **Paragraph** area, click **Center text** ([≦]). Your cursor moves to the centre of the page.

4. Enter any text you want to display in the letterhead. If you want your clinic name, address, and contact information to populate automatically, add bookmarks where needed. See "Inserting bookmarks" on page 60.

👿 🔙 🤊 • O :	Ŧ	Document1 - N	/licrosoft Word	Hea	ader & 👝	0 23
File Home	Insert Page Layout	References M	ailings Review View	Developer	Design	~ ?
Header • Footer •	☐ Quick Parts ▼ ☐ Quick Parts ▼ ☐ Date ☐ Clin Art	Go to Go to	 Different First Page Different Odd & Even Pages Show Document Text 	□ + 1.25 cm ‡ 1.25 cm ‡	Close Header	
Header & Footer	Insert	Navigation	Options	Position	Close	
Header			I J Phone: [Fax:]			

Common header bookmarks

You can find the bookmarks for your clinic name, address, and contact information in the Bookmarks topic of the Wolf online Help, under the **Clinic Address** bookmark category.

Categories of bookmarks

٠	

- Clinic Address

Bookmark	Description
ClinicName	Inserts the Clinic Name
Street1	Inserts first line of the clinic's Address
Street2	Inserts second line of the clinic's Address
ClinicCity	Inserts City/Town where clinic is located
ProvinceState	Inserts Province/State where clinic is locate
PostalZip	Inserts Postal Code of the clinic
PhOffice	Inserts Phone number of the clinic
PhFax	Inserts Fax number of the clinic

- 5. Optionally, add your clinic's logo to the header. See "Adding pictures" on page 48.
- When you finish, if you have the Header edit area open, click Close Header and Footer (

Adding addressee information and letter greetings

To enter addressee information and a letter greeting:

- 1. Place your cursor where you want the addressee information to populate.
- 2. To have the addressee's name, address, and contact information populate automatically, insert bookmarks for each item you want to pull. See "Inserting bookmarks" on page 60.



Add spaces, commas, and new lines between the bookmarks as needed.

If the letter addressee is a consultant...

In the Bookmark Wolf online Help Topic, you can find bookmarks for consultant addressee information by expanding the **Consultant MD** category, and then expanding the subcategory you want.



Note: For the EMR to know which consultant to pull information for, the consultant must:

- Be entered in Patient Maintenance, in the Name/Addr/Phone tab, in the Consultant Physician field.
- Or, if the letter is a referral letter, be the selected consultant for the referral.

If the addressee is patient family practitioner...

In the Bookmark Wolf online Help Topic, you can find bookmarks for the family doctor addressee information by expanding the **Family MD** category, and then expanding the subcategory you want.

Family MD bookmarks can be found in the following categories:

- ⊕Family MD name
- ⊕Family MD address
- ⊕Family MD communication
- ●Family MD qualifications
- ⊕Family MD miscellaneous

Note: For the EMR to know which doctor to pull information for, the patient's family doctor must be entered in Patient Maintenance, in the **Name/Addr/Phone** tab, in the **Family Practice Phys** field.

If the addressee is patient referring practitioner...

In the Bookmark Wolf online Help Topic, you can find bookmarks for the referring doctor addressee information by expanding the **Referring MD** category, and then expanding the subcategory you want.

□ Referring MD

Referring MD bookmarks can be found in the following categories:

- ■Referring MD address

Note: For the EMR to know which doctor to pull information for:

- 1. The patient's referring doctor must be entered in Patient Maintenance, in the Name/Addr/Phone tab, EITHER in the Family Practice Phys field, or in the Consultant Physician field.
- 2. The **Use in Billing as Default** check box must also be selected beside the field where the referring practitioner is entered.

Consultant On File	
Search By (Name or MSP#)	R
	K
Consuttant Physician 🛛 Use in Billing as Default	
12345 Test, Physician, General Practice, Miss 👻	
Consultant Not on File	
Name:	- C L

- 3. To enable users to insert CC'd addressees to the letter, below the addressee information insert bookmarks for CC consultant.
- 4. Optionally, insert the letter date below the addressee information. See "Adding form entry date" on page 64.
- 5. Below the addressee address information, enter a greeting (for example, "Dear"), and then insert MD name bookmark(s) for the consultant md, family md, or referring md. See step 2 for tips on finding the correct bookmarks.



Creating a letter body

To create a letter body:

- 1. Place your cursor where you want the letter body to display.
- Enter your letter body text. If you want patient or clinic information to populate anywhere within a sentence (for example, "Thank you for seeing this <u>8</u> year old <u>Female</u>."), insert the appropriate bookmark. See "Inserting bookmarks" on page 60.
- 3. If you want the letter template user to add information to the middle or end of a sentence, leave a space, or insert a distinctive character as a "place holder" (for example, "thank you for seeing this patient regarding * ").
- 4. If you want to populate all or part of the patient's Medical Summary into the body of the letter:
 - a) Enter a title for each area of the Medical Summary you want to display information for.
 - b) Below each title, insert the bookmark for the corresponding Medical Summary item. See "Inserting bookmarks" on page 60.



Creating letter closings

To add a letter closing:

- 1. Place your cursor where you want the closing statement to display.
- 2. Enter a closing statement (for example, "Regards,").
- 3. To have the sending practitioner's electronic signature populate the letter automatically, on the line below the closing statement, insert the bookmark for the sending practitioner's eSignature. See "Adding electronic signatures" on page 48.
- 4. On the next line, insert bookmarks for the practitioner's name, and optionally the practitioner's Practitioner Number.

If you use the **MDName** bookmark:

- If the SMART form is used from the Physician WorkDesk, this bookmark inserts the name of the practitioner currently logged on.
- If the SMART form is used from the Front Office WorkDesk, this bookmark inserts the name of the patient's Primary Service Provider (as displayed in Patient Maintenance on the Name/Addr/Phone tab).

Setting a SMART form to be a default referral letter template

If you create a referral letter SMART form, you can set the SMART form to be the default letter

template when you click Send to SMART Form (_____) on a referral.

You can make a SMART form the default letter template for all referrals, or you can make a SMART form the default letter template for when you refer to only specific consultants.

Setting a SMART form to be your clinic's default referral letter template

Wolf EMR comes with a standard SMART form referral letter template, called "Consult letter". If you make a customized referral letter template (for example, with your clinic's logo), you can override the standard referral letter template with your customized referral letter template.



CAUTION: If you over-ride the standard referral letter SMART form with a custom SMART form, the custom SMART form becomes the default for all clinic users.

To set a SMART form to be your clinic's default referral letter template:

- 1. Ensure the SMART form template file is saved in your user Templates folder, in the Letters folder. To open your Letters folder:
 - a) On your remote desktop, click Start (
 - b) In the Start menu, click Computer. The Windows Explorer window opens.
 - c) Under Network Location, double-click W:.
 - d) Double-click **Wolfdata** >**Templates** > **Letters**.
- 2. Rename the SMART form to "Consult letter":
 - a) Right click the Microsoft Word 97 2003 Template file for the SMART form.
 - b) Click Rename.
 - c) In the editable name field, enter Consult letter.

🔾 🗢 🗸 Wolfa	lata I	• Templates • Letters -	← Search Letters	Q	
Organize 👻 🕅 N	lew '	 Print New folder 		:= • 🔟 🔞	
🚖 Favorites	^	Name	Date modified	Туре	
🧮 Desktop		Consult Letter Composer_Thumbnail	10/03/2014 1:51 PM	Windows Live Photo	
Downloads		🕮 Consult letter	01/11/2013 1:32 AM	Microsoft Word 97	
🔛 Recent Places		🖆 Consult letter_Metadata	01/11/2013 1:33 AM	XML Document	
tiku suje s	=	👜 Consult letter_Prebuilt	01/11/2013 1:32 AM	Microsoft Word Doc	
Documents		Consult letter_Thumbnail	01/11/2013 1:33 AM	Windows Live Photo	
Music		👜 GP Letter	22/10/2014 4:19 PM	Microsoft Word 97	
		📄 GP Letter_Metadata	22/10/2014 4:38 PM	XML Document	
Videos		🗐 GP Letter_Prebuilt	22/10/2014 4:19 PM	Microsoft Word Doc	
_		GP Letter_Thumbnail	22/10/2014 4:38 PM	Windows Live Photo	
🖳 Computer	•	Mammooram Letter	02/11/2013 12:08 AM	Microsoft Word 97 🔻	
Consult let Microsoft V	ter Nord 9	Date modified: 01/11/201 07 - 2003 Template Authors: Rosario.Y	3 1:32 AM Tags: Add a	a tag	

Setting a SMART form to be a default referral letter template for a specific consultant

If you make a referral letter SMART form that is specific to a certain consultant or specialty, you can set the referral letter template to override the standard Wolf EMR referral letter template when you refer only to selected consultants.



Only users with administrative authority can set a SMART form to be a default referral letter template for a specific consultant.

To set a SMART form to be a default referral letter template for a specific consultant:

- 1. On the Wolf EMR launch page, click **Configuration** (¹⁰⁹). Wolf EMR displays the Configuration window.
- 2. In the Configuration menu, click **View**, and then click **Physicians/Service Providers** > **External Consultants**. The EMR displays the Consultant Maintenance window.
- 3. Search for the consultant:
 - a) In the **Search** tab, in the **Consultant Name** field, enter part or of the consultants first or last name.
 - b) Optionally, in the **Specialty** drop-down list, click the consultant's specialty.
| 🖏 Consultant Maintenance — | | | X |
|----------------------------|-----------------|----------------|---|
| File View Options Reports | | | |
| | | | |
| *** Search *** | Data | Search Results | |
| | Search Criteria | | |

- c) Click **Search**. The EMR displays the **Search Results** tab with a list of matching consultants.
- 4. In the list of matching consultants, click the consultant's name. The EMR displays the **Data** tab with detailed information for the selected consultant.
- 5. In the **Referral Word Template** field, enter the location of the referral letter SMART form, followed by the name of the SMART form.

Consultant Maintenance File View Options Reports	
x** Search ***	Data Search Results
Name Eamily: Test <u>G</u> iven: Physician Itle: Dr. Phone Numbers Private Office: <u>G</u> eneral Office: 111-111-1111 <u>Pager:</u>	Address Line 1: 32243 Hurd Ave Line 2: Line 3: Dity Mission Prov: British Columbia V2V 3J9 Organization: The Medical Group Department: W:\Wolfdata\Templates\Letters\Cardio Referral Letter W:\Wolfdata\Templates\Letters\Cardio Referral Letter Data Share Address provider:physician.test@medicalgroup.wolfmedical.bc.ca Inactive Date User-Defined Forms Merge UnMerge View/UnDo
Wolf ID Wolf Version	Entered Date End Date

6. Click **Save** (**I**).

Creating SMART forms for requisition forms and other entry forms

You can create fill-in only SMART forms, where users can input information only in designated text fields, check boxes, and drop-down lists. Users cannot edit the content of the form itself. Fill-in only SMART forms are most often created for electronic versions of standard forms (such as requisition forms and government forms). As with other SMART forms, fill-in only forms can be programmed to automatically pull in patient data using bookmarks, removing the drudgery of filling out forms manually.

You create most fill-in only forms using tables in Microsoft Word. In building forms using tables, you can format form content into organized columns and rows, and line up text and entry items.

SMART forms become fill-in only when you add editing restrictions to the form.

Using tables to format SMART forms

Many forms contain a variety of data that is separated into various organized columns and rows. Using Microsoft Word, the easiest way to create these forms is to build content within tables.

Tables enable you to:

- Line up groups of content
- Force inputted data to stay within defined regions

You can hide table borders where you don't want table lines to display, or modify border properties to highlight specific areas. You can also split or merge table cells, and adjust individual cell widths.

SMART form being built using a table:

Instruction. Use ONE requisition per specimen submission Requisition must have completed physician and patient information Clearly label CONTAINER with: 1. Patient full name (last name and first name) 2. Date of birth 3. Personal Health Number (PHN)			OTE: The Spe The sa There Sample contair	cimen ample is inco e rece ner	will be rejecti container is t omplete inform vived leaking o	ed if: JNLABELLED nation on the re or in a damaged	quisition I transport	
 Date of collection Specimen source 								
Ordering Physician: I	Code I	Patient PHN I	D O B	Ι		Copy to Dr:		Code
Address III		Patient Name (Last / First)	·		Gender I	Address		
City Pro I I	v Postal Code E	Address				City	Prov	Postal Code
T T Phone No. Fax No.		City I	Prov	Po	istal Code	Fax No.		
Date / Time of Collection Diagnosis 22 Aug 2015 Image: Collection		Recent Travel (indicate coun	try) ()ccupa	tion	EI #	Sende	r Lab Number

SMART form after table borders have been hidden and modified:

Instruction.
Use ONE requisition per specimen submission
Description and have considered about the second

- Requisition must have completed physician and patient information Clearly label CONTAINER with:
- 1. Patient full name (last name and first name)
- 2. Date of birth
- 3. Personal Health Number (PHN)
- 4. Date of collection

The sample container is UNLABELLED
 There is incomplete information on the requisition

NOTE: The Specimen will be rejected if:

 Sample received leaking or in a damaged transport container

5. Specimen sou	irce								
Ordering Physician:		Code	Patient PHN	D	Ŧ		Copy to Dr:		Code
Γ		I	Γ	B	1				
Address			Patient Name (Last / First)			Gender	Address		
Ш			I.I.			I			
City	Prov	Postal Code	Address				City	Prov	Postal Code
Γ	I	Γ	Ш						
Γ	Ι		City	Prov	Po	istal Code			
Phone No.	Fax No.		Γ	-			Fax No.		
Date / Time of Collection	Diagnosis		Recent Travel (indicate country)	(Occupa	tion	El #	Sende	r Lab Number
22 Aug 2015									

Inserting tables

To insert a table:

- 1. Start a new SMART form. See "Starting SMART Forms" on page 20.
- 2. If the form you are creating is wide, and you want more room on the page for content, narrow the form margins:

- a) At the top of the window, click the Page Layout tab.
- b) In the Page Setup area, click Margins (
- c) In the list of margin options, click **Narrow** (
- 3. Place your cursor where you want the table to start.
- 4. At the top of the window, click the **Insert** tab.
- 5. In the **Tables** area, click **Table** (). Microsoft Word displays the **Insert Table** area.
- 6. In the **Insert Table** area, in the rows of boxes, drag your cursor to highlight the number of rows and columns you want the table to have, and then click the bottom right square of the highlighted area.

2x3	Table				
	Insert Table				
1	Draw Table				
+	Convert Text to Table				
	Excel Spreadsheet				
	Quick <u>T</u> ables				

Microsoft word inserts the table.

	123 Diagnostic Imaging 123 Anywhere St			
	 If you want to make a column wider or narrower, click and drag the column border. 			
 If you want to increase the height of a particular row, click and drag the bottom border of the row. 				

- 7. Center the table on the page:
 - a) Highlight the table, and then right-click.
 - b) Click Table Properties. Microsoft Word displays the Table Properties window.
 - c) In the Table tab, in the Alignment area, click Center.

Table Prope	erties				? ×
Table	<u>R</u> ow	Column	C <u>e</u> ll	<u>A</u> lt Text	
Size					
Pref	erred <u>w</u> idth	0 cm	* *	Measure in:	Centimeters 💌
Alignment					
				Indent from le	eft:
	■ ■			1.9 cm	T
<u>L</u> eft	<u>C</u> er	nter R	lig <u>h</u> t		
Text wran	nina				

- d) Click OK.
- 8. If you want to prevent table columns from expanding automatically when users enter data, turn off table auto-sizing:
 - a) Highlight the table, and then right-click.
 - b) Click **Table Properties**. Microsoft Word displays the Table Properties window.
 - c) In the **Table** tab, click the **Options** button.
 - d) In the Table Options window, clear the Automatically resize to fit contents check box.

Table Opti	ons	? <mark>x</mark>				
Default cel	margins					
Top:	0 cm 🚖 Left	t: 0.19 cm 🚔				
Bottom:	0 cm 🚖 Righ	ht: 0.19 cm 🚖				
Default cel	Default cell spacing					
Allow	Allow spacing between cells 0 cm					
Options	Options					
Automatically resize to fit contents						
OK Cancel						

- e) Click OK.
- 9. To maximize the amount of space you can use in the table for content, set the right-hand margin to default to 0.05cm for all table cells:
 - a) Highlight the entire table, and then right-click the highlighted area.
 - b) Click Table Properties.
 - c) On the Table Properties window, in the **Table** tab, click **Options**.

d) On the Table Options window, in the **Default cell margins** area, in the **Right** field, enter **0.05 cm**.

Table Optio	ons		? ×		
Default cell	margins				
Top:	0 cm 🌲	<u>L</u> eft:	0.19 cm 🚖		
Bottom:	0 cm 🌲	<u>Rig</u> ht:	0.05 cm 🚔		
Default cell	Default cell spacing				
Allow	spacing between	cells	0 cm 🔺		
Options					
Automatically resize to fit contents					
		K	Cancel		

e) Click OK.

Merging table cells

If you want to combine two or more adjacent table cells into one cell, you can merge cells.

To merge table cells:

- 1. Highlight the cells you want to merge, and then right-click the highlighted area.
- 2. Click **Merge Cells** (¹¹¹). Microsoft Word combines the selected cells into one cell.



If, before the merge, there is text or other items in the selected cells, Microsoft Word combines the items in the merged cell.

Splitting table cells

If you want to split a table cell into multiple cells, you can split a cell into any number of rows and columns.

To split table cells:

1. Right-click in the cell you want to split, and then click **Split Cells** (¹¹¹¹). Microsoft Word displays the Split Cells window.

Split Cells	? <mark>x</mark>					
Number of <u>c</u> olumns:	2					
Number of <u>r</u> ows:	1					
Merge cells before split						
ОК	Cancel					

- 2. In the Number of columns field, enter the number of columns you want to split the cell into.
- 3. In the Number of rows field, enter the number of rows you want to split the cell into.
- 4. Click **OK**. Microsoft Word splits the cell into the number of rows and columns you specified.

Modifying and hiding table borders

When you add a table, all borders are visible by default with a thickness of 0.5pt. For the entire table or for selected table cells, you can:

- Hide selected borders
- Modify the style and thickness of selected borders

When you hide table borders, the borders become invisible but content within the table still acts as if the borders are there (for example, text and other elements in table cells line up in the table format).

To modify or hide table borders:

- 1. Highlight the cell(s) you want to modify, or to modify borders for the whole table at once, highlight the entire table.
- 2. Right-click the highlighted area, and then click **Borders and Shading...**(^[]]). Microsoft Word displays the Borders and Shading window.

Borders and Shading		2 ×
Borders Page Border Shad	ling	
Setting: Style:	Preview	Click on diagram below or use buttons to apply borders
Bo <u>x</u>		
Gri <u>d</u> Color:	utomatic 💌	
Custom ½ pt	Apply t	•:
		Options
Horizontal Line		OK Cancel

- 3. If you are hiding table borders:
 - a) Perform one of the following actions:

If you want to hide all borders for the selected cell(s) or table, in the **Setting** area,

	-	
click None ().

If you want to hide the borders separating rows and columns of the selected cells or

If you want to hide specific borders for the selected cells or table, in the Setting area,

click **Custom** (), and then in the **Preview** area, click to un-highlight borders you want to hide. For example, click it to hide the top border of the selected area of cells.

Microsoft Word previews the hidden borders in the **Preview** area.

- b) In the **Apply to** drop down list, click one of the following options:
 - **Table**: To apply the hidden borders to the entire table.
 - **Cell**: To apply the hidden borders to only the selected cell(s).
- 4. If you are modifying table border style or thickness:

- a) To modify the style of table borders, in the **Style** area, click a line style.
- b) To modify the color of table borders, in the **Color** drop-down, click a color.
- c) To modify the thickness of table borders, in the **Width** drop-down list, click a pt thickness.



1 inch = 72 points

- d) Perform one of the following actions:
 - If you want to apply the border modification(s) to all borders of the selected cell(s) or

table, in the Setting area, click All (

If you want to apply the border modification(s) to only the surrounding border, in the

Setting area, click Box (

If you want to apply the border modification(s) to only selected cell or table borders,

in the **Setting** area, click **Custom** (), and then in the **Preview** area, click to

highlight borders you want. For example, click is to apply the modifications to only the top border.

Microsoft Word previews the border modification(s) in the **Preview** area.

- e) In the Apply to drop down list, click one of the following options:
 - **Table**: To apply the modified borders to the entire table.
 - **Cell**: To apply the modified borders to only the selected cell(s).
- 5. When you finish, click **OK**.

Adding static elements to restricted SMART forms

When you create a fill-in only form, any content that is not a text field, check box, or drop-down list cannot be edited by the user. Static, or un-editable, content includes text, underlines, tables, pictures, and digital signatures.

Adding static text

When you create a restricted form, any text you type on the Microsoft Word document becomes static text when the form is used in Wolf EMR.

You can use static text to:

- Add descriptive information to a form, such as a title for the form or a name for a field
- Display a hyperlink for a URL in a form. When the hyperlink is clicked, the web page for the URL displays in a separate browser window

Populate the form with patient data or practitioner information using bookmarks

To add static text to a restricted form:

- 1. Place your cursor where you want to insert text.
- 2. Optionally, adjust the text font:
 - a) At the top of the window, click the **Home** tab if it is not selected already. In the **Font** area, Microsoft Word displays the current font type and size.

Home Insert Page Layout References Mailings Re					creating and	inounjing oin	
$\begin{array}{c c} & Cut & & \\ & Arial & v & 11 & A^* & A^* & Aa^* & \\ \hline & Copy & & \\ & & & \\ \hline & & & \\ & & & \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{B} \mathcal{L} & II & v & abc & v & v^2 & & \\ \hline & & & & \\ & & & & \\ \hline & & & & \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{abc} \mathcal{L} & v & abc & v & \\ \hline & & & & \\ \hline & & & \\ \end{array}$	Home	Inser	rt I	Page Layout	References	Mailings	Re
$= \frac{B}{2} T = $	K Cut		Arial	* 11	· A A	Aa* 🎒	:=
🌮 Format Painter " 🖌 🖸 🚟 🏊 🥎 📥 📜	💕 Format P	ainter	B	<u>∕</u> U ∗abe ≯	κ ₂ Χ ² Α	<u>ab</u> ∕ - <u>A</u> -	
pboard 🕞 Font 🕞	pboard	E.		F	ont	- Gi	

b) If you want to change the font type, in the drop-down list, click the font you want.



The font type **Arial Narrow** is optimal for most forms.

c) If you want to change the font size, in the size drop-down list, click the point size you want.



A font size of **10pt** or **11pt** is optimal for most forms.

- 3. Enter text as you would for a normal Word document.
- 4. If, in the middle of a sentence, you want patient-specific or practitioner-specific data to pull automatically, insert a bookmark. See "Inserting bookmarks" on page 60.

Adding underlines

If on certain areas of a form you want a text field or pulled data (bookmark) to display on a line (for example, fields that the patient will fill out on a printout of the form), you can insert an underline.

Ordering physician – (apply CLS Dr. Office Stamp Here):						
Last Name / Full First Name:						
5 Digit Client #	5 Digit Client #					
Alpha Suffix Provider # []						
IF REQUIRED						
PHONE 🔲 (Name)						
FAX						
RESULTS TO (Number)	RESULTS TO (Number)					
COPY TO:						
1)						
Last Name Full First Name	Location					
2)						
Last Name Full First Name	Location					

To add an underline:

- 1. On the SMART form, highlight the bookmark or field you want to have an underline for.
- 2. At the top of the window, click the **Home** tab, and then in the **Font** area, click **Underline** (\underline{U}).
- 3. Place your cursor to the right of the bookmark or field, and then on your keyboard, press **Ctrl + Tab**. Microsoft Word inserts a line the length of the tab.
- 4. To increase the length of the line:
 - a) Directly above the line, click the ruler at the top of the page. Microsoft inserts a Left Tab indicator.





If the ruler is not visible, at the top of the window, click the **View** tab, and then in the **Show** area, select the **Ruler** check box.

b) Click and drag the Left Tab indicator to the right. Microsoft Word extends the line to the Left Tab indicator.



Adding pictures

You can add pictures to SMART forms, such as logos for letterheads.

- The size of a picture should be as small as possible, while still maintaining a good quality when the SMART form is printed. The size of your entire SMART form should not exceed 200kb.
 - To ensure that the picture quality is sufficient, test print the form.
- For clinic logos and other non-photographic images, use .gif or .png files (avoid using .bmp files).

To add a picture to a SMART form:

- 1. On the SMART form, place your cursor where you want the picture to insert.
- 2. At the top of the window, click the Insert tab.
- 3. In the **Illustrations** area, click **Picture** (¹¹⁾). Microsoft Word displays the Insert Picture search window.
- 4. Search for and select the picture file.



If you are creating the SMART form on your Remote Desktop, you can select a picture file only if it resides on the Remote Desktop. Copy and paste the picture file from your local computer to the Remote Desktop.

5. Click **Insert**. Microsoft Word inserts the picture and displays the **Picture Tools Format** tab at the top of the window.

₩ ⊒"י"י"	Creating and modifying SMART fo	ms.docx - Microsoft Word	Picture Tools	
File Home Insert Page	ayout References Mailings Revi	ew View Developer Add-I	ins Acrobat Format	
Remove Background	Image: Second	ure Border * ure Effects * ure Layout *	ing Forward Y 📑 Y 🖬 0 and Backward Y 🔄 Y Crop 🚍 0 election Pane 🐴 Y	87 cm ‡ 9 cm ‡
Adjust	Picture Styles	G Arran	nge Size	- Fa

- 6. If you want to modify the picture:
 - a) Click the picture, and then on the top of the window, click the **Picture Tools Format** tab.
 - b) Use the various Microsoft Word Picture Tools available to edit, resize, position, crop, rotate, and enhance the picture as needed. For more information on how to use the picture tools in Microsoft Word, see Microsoft Word Help (?).

Adding electronic signatures

You can have a SMART form pull practitioner electronic signatures by inserting a signature bookmark. When the SMART form is used for a patient, a user with a practitioner role is prompted to insert their signature. If an MOA has permission to use a practitioner's signature, the MOA is prompted to insert the practitioner's signature when they use the form. This saves time, by removing the need for the practitioner to manually sign a printout of the SMART form.

Sign Document?		
Do you wish to add your signature to this form? Signature for Provider: Gabert, Trayr, MD Documment: Trayr's Letter Patient: Kirk, James T.		
This will save the document as a PDF file.		
Yes No		



A practitioner's electronic signature must be imported into Wolf EMR before it can be used in SMART forms. For information on how to import signatures, in Wolf EMR Online Help, search the topic **"SMART Form Signatures**".

SMART forms that contain electronic signatures are saved in the Documents tab of patient medication summaries as PDF files, and cannot be modified later.

To add an electronic signature in a SMART form:

- 1. On the SMART form, place your cursor where you want the signature to display.
- 2. Insert the appropriate signature bookmark. See "Inserting bookmarks" on page 60. Use one of the following bookmarks:

Bookmark name	Description
MDSignature	This bookmark inserts an image of the practitioner's signature. Use this bookmark in letter templates (where there is no restriction on the size of the signature).
MDSmallSignature	This bookmark inserts a smaller image of the practitioner's signature.
	Use this bookmark in requisition forms and other entry forms where there's a restriction on the size of the signature.

Adding user interface elements to restricted forms

When you use a fill-in only form, you can enter data only in designated text fields, check boxes, and drop-down lists. These entry items are known as "user interface elements".

Before you can add user interface elements to SMART forms, you must enable the Developer tab in Microsoft Word. See "Activating the Microsoft Word Developer tab" on page 22.

Adding text fields

Add text fields anywhere you want to enable users to manually enter text. Text fields display as grey areas on the form.

Inpatient Unit	Patient ID #
Research Study Name and Number:	WCB Yes No Claim #
	TBCC #
Specific Anatomical area to be examined	

When a user enters information into a text field, the grey text area expands to accommodate the amount of text the user enters. Users can enter only the amount of text enabled by the size of the table cell, and by the properties of the field.

Specific Anatomical area to b
Right Coxal joint
Right Coxal joint

If users may need to enter a large amount of text, ensure the table cell that the text field occupies is large enough to accommodate the entered text. For example, if an area on the form asks for a Clinical History, you can make this cell larger.

Specific Anatomical area to be examined Right Coxal joint	Urgent Semi-Urgent (<30 days) Routine
	Follow-up
Relevant Clinical History and Presumptive Diagnosis:	
Clinical Questions to be Answered:	

Additional tips for increasing data entry space:

- Set table cell right margin to 0.05. See "Inserting tables" on page 39.
- Format the cell paragraph spacing so that text is as compact as possible. Format the paragraph to be single-spaced, and have 0pt before and after lines.

To add a text field:

- 1. On the SMART form, place your cursor where you want to insert the text field.
- 2. At the top of the window, click the **Developer** tab.
- 3. In the Controls area, click Legacy Tools (🖗).
- 4. In the Legacy Forms area, click Text Form Field (^{ab)}.





CAUTION: <u>Do not</u> click the **Text Box** (^{IMD}) item in the **ActiveX Controls** area or the text field will not work properly. You can use only Legacy Forms items for SMART forms.

Microsoft Word inserts the text field, which displays as a grey area.

- 5. Optionally, adjust the font for text entered in the field:
 - a) Highlight the text area, and then right-click. Microsoft Word displays a font area.

ox,	Cali	bri (E 🖛	11	*	A	A	*	*	
	B	I	U	≣	ab	<mark>?</mark> -	A	- <	3	
	¥	С	ut					\mathbf{r}		

b) If you want to change the font type, in the drop-down list, click the font you want.

Set the font to be different from the font used for the static text of the form. This way, when the completed form is printed, it is easy to distinguish entered data.

MRI Request Form

Rebook Date / Time:

See MRI Prioritization guidelines: CHR web- Diagnostic Imaging

Right Coxal joint

Inpatient Unit	Patient ID #	#	
Research Study Name and Number:	WCB Claim #	Yes	🖾 No
	TBCC #		

 \mathbf{Q}

Relevant Clinical History and Presumptive Diagnosis: Severe pain and limited mobility. Suspected Osteoarthritis.

Clinical Questions to be Answered:

ific Anatomical area to be examined

Bolded text with the font type of **Times New Roman** is optimal for most forms.

c) If you want to change the font size, in the size drop-down list, click the point size you want.



A font size of **10pt** or **11pt** is optimal for most forms.

Restricting what data users can enter in specific text fields

If you want to allow users to input only a certain type of data into a text field (for example, you want to force users to enter a date with a specific format), you can specify a text field type.

Also, if you want to limit the amount of data users can input into a field, you can restrict the number of characters allowed.

To restrict what data users can enter into a text field:

1. Right click the text field, and then click **Properties**. Microsoft Word displays the Text Form Field Options window.

Text Form Field Options	? ×
Text form field	
Туре:	Default text:
Regular text 💌	
Maximum length:	Text <u>f</u> ormat:
Unlimited 🗧	_
Run macro on	
Entry:	E <u>x</u> it:
•	•
Field settings	
Bookmark:	
Text1	
✓ Fill-in enabled	,
Calculate on exit	
Add Help <u>T</u> ext	OK Cancel

2. To allow the user to input only a certain type of data, using the following table, in the **Type** drop down list, click an option.

Field	Description
Regular text	(Default option) Enables users to enter any type of text.
	If you want entered text to have a specific case format, in the Text format drop-down list, click an option.

	Type: Default text: Regular text Text format: Maximum length: Text format: Unlimited Uppercase Entry: First capital Field settings Title case If you want default text to display in the field (for example, instructions or tips for the form user), in the Default text field, enter the text. Note: Users can overwrite default text.
Number	Forces users to input a number. In the Number format drop-down list, click the number format users are to use. If you want a default number to display in the field, in the Default number field, enter the number.
	Tyge: Default number: Number I Maximum length: Number format: Unlimited I Run macro on 0 Entry: #,##0 #,##0.00 \$#,##0.00;(\$#,##0.00) \$#,##0.00;(\$#,##0.00)
Date	Forces users to input a date. In the Date Format drop-down list, click the format users are to use. Type: Default date: Date Type: Default date: Maximum length: Date format: Unlimited dd/MM/yyyy ddd, MMMM d, yyyy
	Field settings
Current date	Populates the field with the date that the form is used, but enables users to edit the date if needed. Users can enter only a date in this field. In the Date format drop-down list, click the date format you

	want.	
	Type: De	efault date:
	Current date	
	Maximum length: Da	ate <u>f</u> ormat:
	Unlimited ≑	•
	Run macro on d	id/MM/yy
	Entry:	-MMM-ad
		id.MM.yyyy
		IMM. d, yy
	Field settings	
Current time	enables the user to edit the enter a time in this field. In the Time format drop-want.	he time if needed. Users can only -down list, click the time format you
	Type: De	efault time:
	Current time 💌	
	Maximum length: Tir	me <u>f</u> ormat:
	Unlimited 🗧	▼
	Run macro on do	ld/MM/yyyy h:mm am/pm ld/MM/yyyy h:mm:ss am/pm
	Entry:	:mm am/pm
	▼ H	H:mm
	Field settings	H:mm:ss

- 3. If you want to allow users to enter only a certain amount of text, in the **Maximum length** field enter the maximum number of characters.
- 4. Click OK.

Adding check boxes

You can add check boxes to present options from which a user can select.

To add a check box:

- 1. On the SMART form, place your cursor where you want the check box to insert.
- 2. At the top of the window, click the **Developer** tab.
- 3. In the Controls area, click Legacy Tools (
- 4. In the Legacy Forms area, click Check Box Form Field (\square).





CAUTION: Do not click the check box item in the **ActiveX Controls** area, or the check box will not work properly. You can use only Legacy Forms items for SMART forms.

Microsoft Word inserts the check box and places your cursor to the right of the check box.

- 5. Enter the check box tag (text to go with the check box).
- 6. If you want to modify the size or other properties of the check box:
 - a) Right click the check box, and then click **Properties** (²¹⁷). Microsoft Word displays the Check Box Form Field Options window.

Check Box Form Field Options	? X
Check box size Image: Auto gradient of the size o	
Default value	
Not checked	
Checke <u>d</u>	
Run macro on	
Entry: Exit:	
▼	•
Field settings	
Bookmark: Check1	
Check box enabled	
Calculate on exit	
Add Help Text OK	Cancel

b) Use the following table to modify the check box properties.

Property	Description		
Check box size	Select one of the following options:		
	 Auto: To have the size of the check box change automatically to match the size of the check box tag font. 		
	Exactly : To specify an exact point size for the check box.		
Default value	Select one of the following options:		
	• Not checked: To have the check box cleared by default.		
	Checked: To have the check box selected by default.		

c) When you finish, click **OK**.

Adding drop-down lists

If you want to enable users to choose only one item from a list of options, you can add a dropdown list.



To add a drop-down list:

- 1. On the SMART form, place your cursor where you want to insert the check box.
- 2. At the top of the window, click the **Developer** tab.
- 3. In the **Controls** area, click **Legacy Tools** (9.1.1).
- 4. In the Legacy Forms area, click Drop-Down Form Field (





CAUTION: Do not click the combo box item in the **ActiveX Controls** area, or the drop-down list will not work properly. You can use only Legacy Forms items for SMART forms.

Microsoft Word inserts the drop-down list as a grey box.

- 5. Add list items to the drop-down list:
 - a) Right click the drop-down list, and then click **Properties** (). Microsoft Word displays the Drop-Down Form Field Options window.

Drop-Down Form Field	Options	? X
Drop-down item:	Items in drop-down list:	Move
Remove Run macro on		- -
Entry:	E <u>x</u> it:	•
Field settings		
Bookmark: Dropdown	1	
Drop-down enabled		
Calculate on exit		
Add Help <u>T</u> ext	ОК	Cancel

- b) In the Drop-down item field, enter an item to display in the drop-down list.
- c) Click Add >>. The item displays in the Items in drop-down list area.
- d) Repeat step b) and step c) for all items on the list.
- e) If you want to change the order of a listed item, in the **Items in drop-down list** area, click the item, and then click the up or down **Move** icons until the item is in the correct place.





The item that displays at the top of the list is the default selection for the field.

Programming SMART forms to populate data automatically

You can program SMART forms to automatically populate a variety of information, including:

- Patient demographic and medical information
- Patient exam data
- Practitioner and clinic information
- Form date

SMART forms pull information from your EMR using the Microsoft Word bookmark feature, and Wolf EMR defined bookmarks.

Inserting bookmarks

To insert a bookmark:

- 1. In Wolf EMR Online Help, find the bookmark you want:
 - a) On the Wolf EMR Launch page, click the **Help** (22) icon. The EMR displays the Wolf EMR Online Help window.
 - b) At the top of the window, click Search () and then, in the search field, enter the term "Bookmarks".
 - c) In the list of matching topics, click **Bookmarks**. The help page displays the Bookmarks topic.
 - d) In the Bookmarks article, in the **Categories of bookmarks** area, expand the appropriate category and subcategory. Wolf Online Help displays a table with the following columns:
 - **Bookmark**: Displays the bookmark name.
 - **Description**: Describes what information pulls when the bookmark is used.
 - **Location**: Describes where in the EMR the information is pulled from

Categories of bookmarks

- •
 •
 General
- ⊕Clinic Address
- ⊕Clinic MD
- ⊕Composer
- ⊕Consultant MD
- ⊕Family MD
- ⊕Insurer
- ⊕Labs
- □ Patient Demographics

For Patient Referral MD bookmarks, see bookmarks used for Referral MD

Patient Demographics name bookmarks

Bookmark	Description	Location of Information		
PatientFLName	Inserts the patient's First and Last name			
PatientLName	Inserts the patient's Last name (Family Name)	Name/Addr/Phone tab in Patient		
PatientFName	Inserts the patient's First name (Given Name)	Maintenance		
PatientMiddleName Inserts the patient's Middle name				
PatientChosenName	Inserts the patient's Chosen name			
Patient Demographics address bookmarks				

e) Note the bookmark name displayed in the far left column.

2. Click C	opy.	ddress		
Ĩ	Bookma	ark		Descri
	ClinicAl		- Ir	nserts
	$\frac{1}{2}$	ut	Ir	nserts
	St Pa	ste	L I	nserts
	CI Se	elect all	<u>I</u>	nserts
	Pr Pr	int	<u>l</u> r	nserts
	Pr Pr	int preview	<u>Ir</u>	nserts
	21 🛃 E-	mail with Windows Live	<u>I</u> r	nserts
L	<mark>안 뭀</mark> M	ap with Bing	I	nserts
• 🖽	li 📴 Se	earch with Bing		
• 🖽	c 🛐 Tr	anslate with Bing		
• 🖽	c Al	Accelerators	•	
Note: You can	also co	 ny hookmarks using	the	<ctrl><c> keyboard</c></ctrl>

- 2. On the SMART form, click where you want the bookmark's data to pull into.
- 3. On the Microsoft Word menu, click the **Insert** tab.
- 4. In the **Links** area, click **Bookmark** (

Bookmark		? <mark>X</mark>
Bookmark name:		
		Add
	^	Delete
		Go To
	-	
Sort by: 💿 <u>N</u> ame		
Location		
Hidden bookmarks		
		Cancel

5. In the **Bookmark name** field, enter the appropriate Wolf EMR bookmark.

If you copied the bookmark name in the Wolf EMR Help window, paste the bookmark name in the **Bookmark name** field:

- 1. In the **Bookmark name** field, right-click.
- 2. Click Paste.

6. Click Add. Microsoft Word inserts a character (I) where the bookmark is inserted.

The I character shows where the bookmark's information will pull when the SMART form is used.



If you do not see the I character, this indicates that Microsoft Word is not configured to show bookmarks. See "Setting up Microsoft Word to show bookmarks" on page 24.

 Higl click In the disp the 	hlight the I character, k the Insert tab. he Links area, click B plays the Bookmark wi Bookmark name field	and then at the top ookmark (). ndow with the boo d.	o of the window, Microsoft Word kmark displayed in
Bo	okmark		? ×
Boo	okmark name:		
Cli	nicName		Add
	nicialite	×	Delete
Sor	tby: 💿 <u>N</u> ame		
	Location		
	<u>H</u> idden bookmarks		
			Cancel
2 1/16	an vou finiale viewing t		Correct

- 7. If you want the bookmark information to display with a different font:
 - a) Highlight the bookmark, and then right-click. Microsoft Word displays the font toolbar.



b) Using the font toolbar, modify the font as needed. When the form is used, the bookmark information displays with the modified font.

Alberta Health Services	Name: Las Hardesty PHN 9998349301	First Blanch		
Alberta Children's Hospital Biochemical Genetics Laboratory Requisition	Medical Record # Patient's Address 4167 S	E Senator Street		
2888 Shaganappi Trail NW Calgary AB T3B 6A8 Phone 403.955.7380 Fax 403.955.7905	City Carstairs	Province Postal Code AB B1S 6S0		
Requesting Physician (Name, Address) Name: Janna S. Schreiber, MD PhD FRCPC - # 44444 Address: 2805 SE Knight Court Morley, AB A7Y 3M9				
Copy To (Name, Address) Name:				

If you are creating a fill-in only SMART form, for entry fields and bookmarks that are "filling in" the form, use a font that is distinctly different than the original form. This way, when you print the form, the "answers" are clearly visible.

Recommendation:

For bookmarks and entry fields, use the font **Times New Roman**, with the size of **11pt**, and **bolded**.

Using bookmarks to pull data from exams

If you use pre-existing or customized structured exams to enter visit notes, you can pull information from the exam fields, check boxes, and drop-down lists into SMART forms. Each entry field in a structured exam has a unique name. Using exam field names you can create and insert bookmarks for the desired fields.

To insert a bookmark to pull data from an exam field:

- 1. On the SMART form, click where you want the bookmark to be, and insert a bookmark. See step 2 to step 4 in "Inserting bookmarks" on page 60.
- 2. In the Bookmark window, in the **Bookmark name** field, perform one of the following actions:
 - If the exam field is on a pre-existing exam that came with Wolf EMR, enter EX_<exam field name>. For example, to insert the bookmark for height, from the below exam, enter EX_Height.

EXAM	Gene	eral	L		-		_	
BP Systo	lic:	120	Pulse:	60	Height:	170	Vaist Circ:	<u>\$</u>
BP Diasto	lic:	80	RR:		Weight:		BMI	

If the exam field is on a customized exam that your clinic created, enter EXC_<exam field name>. For example, if an exam check box is called "murmer", enter EXC_murmer.



Important: If the exam field name contains more than one word, take out the space between words for the bookmark. For example, if the exam field name is "Active Supine Cervical Flexion", enter **EXC ActiveSupineCervicalFlexion** for the bookmark.

3. Click Add.

Using the same bookmark multiple times on a SMART form

You can use a specific bookmark name only once in a single form. If you try to insert the same bookmark a second time on a SMART form, the bookmark disappears from the first location and moves to the second location.

Also, if you combine multiple forms into one Order Set, if there are multiple instances of the same bookmark, only the first instance remains while all the other instances disappear automatically. See "Combining multiple forms into one order set" on page 76.

You can enter a bookmark multiple times by using the bookmark name followed by a number.

To use the same bookmark multiple times on a SMART form:

- 1. Insert the first instance of the bookmark as normal. See "Inserting bookmarks" on page 60.
- 2. On the SMART form, click where you want the next instance of the same bookmark to be.
- 3. Insert the bookmark similar to how you insert the first instance of the bookmark, with the following exception:
 - In the Bookmark window, in the Bookmark name field, enter the Wolf EMR bookmark name followed by a unique number.

For example, if you want to pull a patient's last name in two places on a form, for the second instance, enter the bookmark name **PatientLName2**.

Bookmark	? X
Bookmark name:	
PatientLName2	Add
PatientLName	Delete
	Go To
Sort by: 💿 <u>N</u> ame	
Location	
🔲 Hidden bookmarks	
	Cancel

4. To insert the same bookmark again, repeat step 3, but enter a different number following the bookmark name.



You can use the same bookmark as many times as you need, as long as each instance has a unique number following the bookmark name.

Deleting bookmarks

If you want to delete a bookmark, you cannot highlight and delete it as you do regular text. Instead, you open the Bookmark window, and delete the bookmark from there.

To delete a bookmark:

- 1. On the SMART form, click to the right of the bookmark character (I), placing your cursor beside the bookmark.
- 2. At the top of the window, click the **Insert** tab.
- 3. In the **Links** area, click **Bookmark**. Microsoft Word displays the Bookmark window, with the Wolf EMR bookmark displayed in the **Bookmark name** field.

Bookmark	? ×
Bookmark name:	
ClinicName	Add
ClinicName	Delete
	<u>G</u> o To
-	
Sort by: Name	
C Location	
Hidden bookmarks	
	Close

- 4. Click **Delete**.
- 5. Click **Close**. Microsoft Word removes the bookmark from the SMART form.

Adding form entry date

If you want a SMART form to automatically insert the date that the form is filled in, you can insert the form create date. The form create date is the date that the form is used (not the date the form was built).



When you use a SMART form, the form create date cannot be edited. If you want to change the date displayed, you can delete the entire date, and then manually enter a new date.

Note: This work-around works only if the form is not restricted. You cannot edit the create date on fill-in only forms.

To add the form entry date:

- 1. On the SMART form, click where you want the date to display.
- 2. On the Microsoft Word menu, click Insert and then, in the Text area, click Quick Parts (



- 3. In the **Quick Parts** drop-down list, click **Field** (^[III]). Microsoft Windows displays the Field window.
- 4. In the **Please choose a field** area, click **CreateDate**.

lease choose a field	Field properties	Field options		
Categories:	Date formats:	Use the <u>Hij</u> ri/Lunar calendar		
(All) Field names: Field names: (All) Field names: (AddressBlock Advance Ask Advance Ask Author AutoNum AutoNumLgl AutoNumOut AutoText AutoText BarCode Bibliography BidlOutline Citation Comments Compare	14/08/2015 Friday, August 14, 2015 August 14, 2015 14/08/15 2015-08-14 14-Aug-15 14.08,2015 Aug. 14, 15 14 August 2015 August 15 August 15 August 15 14/08/2015 3:23 PM 14/08/2015 3:23:45 PM 3:23:45 PM 15:23 15:23:45	 Use the <u>S</u>aka Era calendar Use the <u>U</u>m-al-Qura calendar 		
CreateDate Database	~	Preserve formatting during updates		
Description:				
The date the document was created				
Field Codes		OK Cancel		

CAUTION: In the **Please choose a field** area, <u>avoid</u> selecting **Date**. If you select **Date**, the date on the SMART form will change every time it is viewed from the **Documents** area of a patient's Medical Summary.

- 5. In the Field properties area, click the format you want the date to display as.
- 6. Click OK. Microsoft Word inserts today's date.



When you use this SMART form, the date changes to the date the SMART form is used.

Adding and removing SMART form editing restrictions

If you are creating a requisition form or other data entry form, you can restrict users from editing the base form itself and enable users to enter text and make selections only in select areas.

You typically do not set editing restrictions on letters unless you want to prevent users from editing pre-existing letter content and bookmarks. Also, if you have a letter SMART form that contains check-boxes, drop-down lists, or text fields, you must restrict the form to be "fill-in" only for these elements to work.

If you want to edit a SMART form that contains editing restrictions, you must remove the restrictions first.

Restricting SMART forms to be fill-in only

The most common type of editing restriction you use for SMART forms is fill-in only. On forms that are set to be fill-in only, you can select check boxes, enter text in text fields, and make selections in drop-down lists, but you cannot make edits to the base form itself or to data that has been populated with bookmarks.

To set a SMART form to be fill-in only:

- 1. Create a fill-in only form. See "Creating SMART forms for requisition forms and other entry forms" on page 35.
- 2. With the SMART form open in developer mode, at the top of the Microsoft Word window, click the **Developer** tab.



If the **Developer** tab is not available as an option, you must enable the Developer tab. See "Activating the Microsoft Word Developer tab" on page 22.

3. In the **Protect** area, click **Restrict Editing** (). Microsoft Word displays the Restrict Formatting and Editing pane on the right side of the window.

Restrict Formatting and Editing 🔻 🗙				
1. Formatting restrictions				
Limit formatting to a selection of styles				
Settings				
2. Editing restrictions				
Allow only this type of editing in the document:				
No changes (Read only)				
3. Start enforcement				
Are you ready to apply these settings? (You can turn them off later)				
Yes, Start Enforcing Protection				

- 4. Under **2. Editing restrictions**, select the **Allow only this type of editing in document** check box.
- 5. In the drop-down list, click **Filling in forms**.
- 6. Under **3. Start enforcement**, click **Yes**, **Start Enforcing Protection**. Microsoft Word displays the Start Enforcing Protection window.

Start Enforcing Protection				
Protection method				
Password Password Additional and a second and and a second and a second and a se				
(The document is not encrypted. Malicious users can edit the file and remove the password.)				
Enter new password (optional):				
Reenter password to confirm:				
O User authentication				
(Authenticated owners can remove document protection. The document is encrypted and Restricted Access is enabled.)				
OK Cancel				

7. Under Protection method, click Password.



In the **Password** area, leave the password fields blank. You do not need to enter a password to restrict the form.

Recommendation: Avoid adding a password to your SMART forms or you risk losing editing access to the forms if you forget the password.

- 8. Click OK.
- 9. Save the SMART form. At the top of the Microsoft Word window, click Save ().

Removing SMART form editing restrictions

If you want to edit a SMART form, you must remove any editing restrictions first.

To remove SMART form editing restrictions:

1. Open the SMART form from your User Template folder. See step 1 to step 2 in "Modifying clinic SMART forms" on page 79.





- **CAUTION**: Do not double-click to open and modify the form. Always rightclick and then click **Open**. If you double-click the form to open it, any modifications you make are not saved.
- 2. At the top of the window, click the **Developer** tab.



If the **Developer** tab is not available as an option, you must enable the Developer tab. See "Activating the Microsoft Word Developer tab" on page 22.

3. In the **Protect** area, click **Restrict Editing** (). Microsoft Word displays the Restrict Formatting and Editing pane on the right side of the window.



4. Click **Stop Protection**. You can now edit the SMART form.

Order sets

If you fill out certain requisition forms with similar information for specific groups of patients (for example, you select the same core lab tests for most diabetic patients), you can create customized copies of these SMART forms with check-boxes and text fields pre-populated.

Also, if you commonly complete a set of requisition forms together, you can customize your SMART forms to combine multiple requisition forms. You can then open all forms together with one click.

Customized, pre-filled versions of SMART forms are called Order Sets.

Order sets display as "house forms" (with a house icon) in your list of SMART Forms. House forms are forms that have been created or modified by your clinic. These forms are <u>not</u> <u>maintained or updated by TELUS Health</u>.

	Name		
+	-	Favourites	
		Central Access and Triage Form-CHAMP	
		📥 CPX - Female	
		📥 CPX - Male	
		CT Procedures Use Form-AB	
		() DI Rea-Pureform-AB Ca	
		📥 Diabetes Lab req	
		Gyne Cyto Req-AB Cg	
		🚯 Handicap Parking Placard Form-AB	
		🔇 Medical Exam-MVO-AB	
		🔇 Micro Req-Dynalife-AB (1pg)	
		🔇 MRI Req-AB Cg	
	Þ	Diagnostic Tools	
	•	Forms	

When you open an order set for a patient, you can edit the pre-populated data as needed before you print and save the form.

Creating order sets

You create an order set by saving a copy of the original form in your Order Sets folder. You can then fill in the areas of the form you want and then save the form. You can create as many order sets as you want for one form.

Any user can create Order Sets for their own personal use. Only users with administrative authority in Wolf EMR can create Order Sets for the entire clinic.

To create an order set:

1. Navigate to the User Templates Folder on your remote computer:
Unless you have had a custom Templates folder set up, your folder location should be W:|Wolfdata|Templates.

To verify the location of your User Templates folder:

- 1. On the WorkDesk menu, click **Configure > Configure Workdesk**. The EMR displays the WorkDesk User Preferences window.
- 2. Click the Document Templates and Drawings Folders tab.
- 3. In the User Setting area of the window, note the pathway displayed in the Document Templates Folder field.

General	Spell Check	Message	Miscellaneous	Document Templates and Drawings Folders	Medications	Graph	Visit Exams
		User Setti	ng	Apply Clinic		Clinic Setting	
Document Templa	tes Folder VV: VVol	fdata\Templates			W:\Wolfdata\Tem	plates	
Drawings Folder	W:\Wo	fdata\Drawings	×		W:\Wolfdata\Drav	vings	
Careplan Notes Ke	eyword CarePla	in			CarePlan		
	,		Location of y	our User			
			Templates	Folder			
On the desktop of y	/our remo	ote comp	uter, click	Start (<u>9</u>). т	ne EMR d	lisplays
On the desktop of y	/our remo	ote comp	uter, click	s Start (9). Тł	ne EMR d	lisplays
In the desktop of y /indows Start Mer	/our remo	ote comp	uter, click	start (9). Тł	ne EMR d	lisplays
On the desktop of y Vindows Start Mer Click Run . Microso	your remo nu. ft Windov	ote comp vs displa	uter, click ys the Ru	s Start (99). Тł и.	ne EMR d	lisplays
On the desktop of y Vindows Start Mer	/our remo hu. ft Windov	ote comp vs displa	uter, click ys the Ru	s Start (). Tł /.	ne EMR d	lisplays

Ŧ

ОK Cancel Browse...

resource, and Windows will open it for you.

e) In the **Open** field, enter the folder location.

W:\Wolfdata\Templates

Open:

f) Click OK. Microsoft Windows displays your User Templates folder.

~ _						X
😋 🍚 🗢 🕌 « Wolfdata	▶ Templates ▶	▼ \$ 50	earch Templates			۶
Organize 🔻 New fold	ler		:==	• [1 0)
🜟 Favorites	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size		ļ
🧮 Desktop	🐌 CustomExamFormImport	09/12/2013 3:20 PM	File folder			
Downloads	퉬 CustomE×amFormImported	09/12/2013 3:20 PM	File folder			
🔚 Recent Places	鷆 Diagnostic Tools	13/06/2013 3:40 PM	File folder			
Fa	퉬 Forms	01/10/2014 12:18 PM	File folder			
Documents	퉬 Letters	22/10/2014 5:00 PM	File folder			
Music	鷆 Order Sets	27/10/2014 10:40 AM	File folder			:
	퉬 Requisitions	15/04/2014 4:51 PM	File folder			
Videos	SOAPExports	19/04/2013 3:01 PM	File folder			
_	퉬 SOAPImported	03/12/2013 10:48 AM	File folder			
🌉 Computer	SOAPImports	22/08/2014 2:40 PM	File folder			
	👜 AISH Tracking	14/06/2013 10:26 AM	Microsoft Word 97		109 KB	
👊 Network	🕋 AISH Tracking_Metadata	14/08/2013 1:39 PM	XML Document		2 KB	L
	👜 AISH Tracking_Prebuilt	14/06/2013 10:26 AM	Microsoft Word Doc		20 KB	,
	•	III			•	
14 items						



You can also open your User Templates folder by clicking **Start** > **Computer** > **W:** > **Wolf Data** > **Templates**.

- 2. If in the User Templates folder there is no Order Set folder, create an Order Set folder:
 - a) In the Templates folder window, right-click.
 - b) Click New > Folder. Windows creates a folder called "New Folder".
 - c) Rename the folder "Order Sets".
- 3. On the window displaying the Template folder, click **Minimize** (**C**). Windows minimizes the folder to the lower toolbar.
- 4. Open the Wolf Master Templates Directory:
 - a) On the desktop of your remote computer, click **Start** (**Start**) and then, on the Start menu, click **Computer**.
 - b) Click Local Disk (C:) > Program Files (x86) > Wolf > Wolf Lair > Data > Templates. Windows displays the Wolf Master Templates Directory folder.

😋 🔍 🕈 📕 « Wolf 🕨	Wolf Lair ▶ Data ▶ Templates	▶ - 4	urch Templates		x
Organize 🔻 🛛 Include ir	n library 🔻 Share with 🔻	New folder	• =	-	0
🚖 Favorites	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	
📃 Desktop	퉬 Diagnostic Tools	04/06/2015 12:16	File folder		
〕 Downloads	鷆 Forms	04/06/2015 12:17	File folder		
归 Recent Places	퉬 Letters	04/06/2015 12:17	File folder		
	鷆 Order Sets	04/06/2015 12:17	File folder		
🥽 Libraries	鷆 Requisitions	04/06/2015 12:17	File folder		
📑 Documents	鷆 Special Authority Forms	04/06/2015 12:17	File folder		
🎝 Music	퉬 System	04/06/2015 12:17	File folder		
📔 Pictures	👜 PatientLabSummary	18/12/2007 2:01 PM	Rich Text Format		1 KB
📑 Videos					

5. In the Wolf Master Templates Directory, find the form you want.



The folder structure of the Templates folder mimics what you see when you select a SMART form in Wolf EMR. To find the form you want, double-click folders you would normally expand in Wolf EMR.

- 6. Copy and paste the form you want from the Wolf Master Requisition Directory to the User Templates Folder:
 - a) In the Wolf Master Requisition Directory folder, search for and right-click the form you want to create an Order Set for.
 - b) Click Copy.



There are four file types for each form. Ensure that you copy the Microsoft

Word 97-2003 Template (

- c) Maximize the Document Templates Folder window (the window that you minimized in step 3.)
- d) On the Document Templates Folder window, double-click the **Order Sets** folder. The Order Sets folder opens.
- e) In the Order Sets folder window, right-click.
- f) Click Paste.
- 7. Rename the copied form to be more descriptive of its function (for example, "Male Diabetic over 50 Lab req"):
 - a) In the Order Set folder window, right-click the form, and then click **Rename**.
 - b) In the editable name field, enter the name you want.

- c) Click outside the name field to save the name.
- 8. To open and edit the renamed SMART Form, right-click the form's template file, and then click **Open**. The EMR opens the SMART Form in Microsoft Word.
- 9. Fill in the SMART Form (select check boxes and enter data into text fields) as you want the form to appear when opened from a patient's record.



Most SMART forms released by TELUS Health are programmed to be restricted forms. On restricted forms you can edit only text fields and check boxes. You cannot edit any other aspects of the form unless you remove the form's restrictions first. See "Modifying SMART forms" on page 79.

10. When you finish, click **Save** (**bal**) or press **<Ctrl> <S**>. The EMR adds the customized Order Set to your user-specific SMART Forms list with a house icon beside the name.





If the order set you just created is not available on your SMART Forms list, close the WorkDesk and re-open it.

Combining multiple forms into one order set

If you often use a complete set of forms for certain types of patient visits (for example, prenatal tests), you can combine multiple forms into one order set. To create a multi-form order set, you copy and paste the content from multiple forms into one Microsoft Word document.

To combine multiple forms into one order set:

- 1. Open your User Templates Folder and ensure an Order Set folder is available. See step 1 to step 2 in "Creating order sets" on page 72.
- 2. Open the Wolf Master Forms Directory and find the forms you want. See step 4 to step 5 in "Creating order sets" on page 72.

- 3. Copy the first form from the Wolf Master Forms Directory folder, and then paste the form in the Order Set folder of your User Templates folder. See step 6 in "Creating order sets" on page 72.
- 4. Rename the first form, using a name that describes the purpose of the order set. For example, "Prenatal exam forms".
- 5. Repeat step 3 and step 4 for all other forms you want to add to the combined form. Rename each form with a similar name, but with an order number following each name.
- 6. Open the first SMART form template. In the User Template folder, right-click the Microsoft

Word 97 – 2003 Template () file for the SMART form, and then click **Open**.



SMART forms have four files in the template folder. Always modify the Microsoft Word 97 - 2003 Template.



- CAUTION: Do not double-click to open and modify the form. Always rightclick and then click **Open**. If you double-click the form to open it, any modifications you make are not saved.
- 7. If the SMART form has editing restrictions, remove the restrictions. See "Removing SMART form editing restrictions" on page 70.
- 8. Scroll down to the bottom of the SMART form, and then place your cursor below all form content, or on your keyboard, press <**Ctrl**>< **End**>.



If the SMART form is built in a table, ensure you place your cursor below the table.

- 9. On your keyboard, press Enter one or more times until Microsoft Word inserts a new page. Leave this form open.
- 10. Open the next form, and remove any editing restrictions. See step 6 and step 7.
- 11. Copy the form's content, and then paste its contents on the new page of the first form:
 - a) To highlight the entire form's content, click anywhere in the form and then, on your keyboard, press <**Ctrl**><**A**>.
 - b) Right-click the highlighted area, and then click **Copy**.
 - c) On the new page of the first form, right-click, and then click Paste. Microsoft Word inserts the form's content on the first SMART form.
- 12. Repeat step 8 to step 11 for all other SMART forms you want to include in the Order Set.
- 13. If there are identical bookmarks used in any of the combined forms, add renamed bookmarks as needed. See "Using the same bookmark multiple times on a SMART form" on page 65.



A bookmark name can be used only once in a single form. If there are multiple instances of the same bookmark, only the first instance remains while all the other instances disappear automatically.

You can re-enter the bookmark where needed using the bookmark name followed by a unique number.

- 14. When you finish, restrict the form to be fill-in only. See "Restricting SMART forms to be fill-in only" on page 69.
- 15. Click **Save** (🛃).
- 16. In your User Templates folder, delete all Microsoft Word templates you copied and pasted in step 5.

Modifying SMART forms

You can edit any SMART form, even if it is provided by TELUS Health. Common edits include:

- Changing bookmarks (for example, to pull Family Practitioner details instead of Consultant details)
- Updating the form company contact details (for example, if a diagnostic imaging company changes their location)

When you modify a form that is originally provided by TELUS Health, you save the edited form as a "house" form. You cannot modify the centralized form on the Wolf EMR data center. House forms are forms that have been created or modified by your clinic. These forms are not maintained or updated by TELUS Health.

If you want to modify only certain check boxes, text fields, and drop-down lists so that they are pre-filled-in with information, see "Order sets" on page 72.

To modify a SMART form:

- 1. Complete one of the following actions:
 - If you are modifying a SMART form that your clinic produced or modified, open your User Template folder and find the form. See step 1 in "Creating order sets" on page 72.
 - If you are modifying a Wolf-provided SMART form, copy the form from Wolf Master Directory folder, paste the form in your User Template folder, and rename the form. See step 1 to step 7 in "Creating order sets" on page 72.
- 2. In the User Template folder, right-click the Microsoft Word 97 2003 Template () file for the SMART form, and then click **Open**.
 - SMART forms typically have four files in the template folder. Always modify the Microsoft Word 97 – 2003 Template file.



- CAUTION: Do not double-click to open and modify the form. Always rightclick and then click Open. If you double-click the form to open it, any modifications you make are not saved.
- 3. If the form currently has editing restrictions, remove the restrictions. See "Removing SMART form editing restrictions" on page 70.
- 4. Modify the SMART form content as needed:
 - If you are modifying a letter SMART form, see "Creating SMART forms for letters" on page 27.
 - If you are modifying a requisition form or other entry form, see "Creating SMART forms for requisition forms and other entry forms" on page 35.
- 5. When you finish, at the top of the window, click **Save** (\square).

Troubleshooting SMART forms

Why, since our Wolf EMR has been upgraded, do some SMART forms not work properly?

Answer: If you were upgraded from a Wolf EMR version older than 2010, some bookmarks, fonts, and checkboxes have changed, and no longer work in newer versions of Wolf EMR. Consider creating a new form from scratch, or at a minimum replacing the bookmarks, check boxes, and fonts that no longer work properly.

Why is my bookmark is not pulling in any data?

Answer:

- a) Check the spelling of the bookmark. Also, when you insert bookmarks try copying and pasting the bookmark from Wolf EMR Online Help into Word (to prevent typos).
- b) If the bookmark is spelled correctly, refer back to the patient's record and ensure that the data is present for the patient.
- c) Has the same bookmark been used more than once on the same SMART form? A bookmark name can be used only once in one document. See "Using the same bookmark multiple times on a SMART form" on page 65.
- d) If the bookmark is for a specific lab value (for a lab result that comes in electronically), and the bookmark is spelled correctly, Wolf EMR may not recognize the associated lab code. To learn more on how to program Wolf EMR to recognize a lab code, in Wolf EMR Online help, search the topic "Merge Codes".

When I use a SMART form, why can't I select the check boxes?

Answer: The form is likely not set to be fill-in only. Open the SMART form template from its stored location, and then set the form to be fill-in only. See "Setting SMART forms to be fill-in only" on page 68.

When I create SMART forms, why can't I see where bookmarks are inserted?

Answer: You must enable Microsoft Word to show bookmarks. See "Setting up Microsoft Word to show bookmarks" on page 24.

When I go to save a modified SMART form, why am I forced to save the SMART form with a new name?

Answer: When you open a SMART form to edit its contents, you must right-click the Microsoft Word 97 - 2003 Template and click **Open**. Do not double-click the template file to open it or you cannot save the changes you make (unless you save it as a new file).

End of Module





Questions?



WolfEMR.support@telus.com

1-866-879-9653 (Option 1)

Community Portal at telushealthcommunity.force.com/wolfcommunity

